Genetic polymorphism in bladder cancer

Xifeng Wu ¹, Xin Lin ¹, Colin P Dinney ², Jian Gu ¹, and H Barton Grossman ²

Departments of ¹ Epidemiology and ² Urology, The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Genetic polymorphisms and bladder cancer risk
 - 3.1. Carcinogen metabolism
 - 3.2. DNA repair
 - 3.3. Cell cycle control
 - 3.4. Inflammation genes
 - 3.5. Apoptosis
 - 3.6. G proteins
 - 3.7. Cell adhesion molecules
 - 3.8. Methylation genes
- 4. Genetic polymorphisms and bladder cancer progression
- 5. Perspective
- 6. Acknowledgement
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Individual variation in the genetic constitution of humans may affect the host responses to constant assaults from exogenous and endogenous carcinogens, which will eventually impact cancer risk, disease prognosis and clinical outcome. Bladder cancer is one of the most common cancers in the world. In this review, the published research articles studying the association between genetic polymorphisms and bladder cancer risk and disease progression are summarized. Genetic polymorphisms are categorized based on their primary cellular functions: genes in carcinogen metabolism, DNA repair, cell cycle control, inflammation, apoptosis, methylation, genes functioning as G proteins, and cell adhesion molecules. Furthermore, we discuss a number of limitations of current genetic susceptibility research and suggest future directions in molecular epidemiology study. This review presents an overview of current molecular epidemiology of bladder cancer and provides a useful resource for understanding the pathogenesis of bladder cancer.

2. INTRODUCTION

Bladder cancer is the fourth most frequent cancer diagnosed in men, and the ninth most frequent cancer in women. It is estimated that 63,210 new cases of bladder cancer will be diagnosed in the United States in 2005 (1). Transitional cell carcinoma (TCC) accounts for 90% of all cases of bladder cancer, while the remainder are adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma.

Environmental exposures to tobacco and industryrelated carcinogens are the primary risk factors for bladder cancer. The urinary bladder cancer incidence is two to three times higher among cigarette smokers as compared with those who have never smoked (2). Aromatic amines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons are two groups of carcinogens known to initiate bladder cancer. These environmental factors can interact with genetic factors to place one individual at a greater risk of bladder cancer than another. Alcohol consumption, dietary factors and the use of hair dyes have also been suggested as risk factors for bladder cancer (3-7).

It is increasingly clear that genetic factors play a critical role in determining risk of bladder cancer. The results of large epidemiological studies suggest the existence of familial transitional cell carcinoma in which first-degree relatives appear to have an increased risk for disease by a factor of two (8). These studies indicate a genetic component to bladder cancer. Numerous studies, as summarized in this review, indicate that genetic polymorphisms in genes responsible for the metabolism of environmental carcinogens and those involved in DNA damage repair and cell cycle control may also be associated with bladder cancer risk. Epidemiologic studies investigate the role of genetic susceptibility in cancer development by focusing research from cancer risk in populations to underlying biologic processes. The establishment of molecular epidemiology has brought the most advanced discoveries in cancer research into population studies.

Genetic and epigenetic changes can induce cancer. From the initial carcinogenic exposure to cancer development, many different mechanisms (metabolism of carcinogens, DNA repair, cell cycle checkpoint control, apoptosis and other interconnected cellular processes) constitute a network that mediates the toxicologic response of the bladder micro ecosystem. These cellular processes vary from individual to individual, resulting in different susceptibilities to cancer. In the following sections, the association between genetic polymorphisms of these key cellular mechanisms, bladder cancer risk and disease progression is described in detail. We listed the chromosomal locations of all the discussed genes, common SNPs of these genes and their functional relevance in table 1.

3. GENETIC POLYMORPHISMS AND BLADDER CANCER RISK

3.1. Carcinogen Metabolism

Many chemical carcinogens require activation by drug-metabolizing enzymes to initiate the carcinogenic process. The dynamic equilibrium between carcinogenactivating enzymes and detoxifying enzymes might be fundamental to determine the cell fate after exposure to carcinogens (78). The activity of drug-metabolizing enzymes is regulated by an interplay between genetic, host, and environmental factors. Consequently, individual differences in cancer susceptibility may be explained to a certain extent by genetic differences in metabolic activation and detoxification.

In general, the metabolism of a toxicant consists of two phases, phase I and phase II. Phase I enzymes, mainly cytochromes P-450 (CYPs), are typically involved in the activation of carcinogens, whereas multiple phase II enzymes generally function to detoxify carcinogens. The balance between phase I and II enzymes often determines the accumulation of reactive intermediates, which may cause oxidative/electrophile stress and toxicity. This report summarizes current studies on the associations between bladder cancer risk and polymorphisms of genes encoding major phase I and phase II enzymes.

CYP is the key metabolic enzyme family and the terminal oxidase of the mixed-function oxygenase system

capable of metabolizing drugs and chemicals (79). Detailed searches for polymorphisms in most human CYP genes have found several functionally significant CYP alleles associated with altered activity or complete absence of the enzyme. CYP1A1, CYP1A2, CYP1B1, CYP2C19, CYP2D6 and CYP2E1 are CYP genes relevant to xenobiotic metabolism. Studies have analyzed the association between polymorphisms of these genes and bladder cancer risk.

CYP1A2 activity may modulate bladder cancer risk through metabolic activation of aromatic amines, such as 4-aminobiphenyl (4-ABP), to reactive intermediates that can form DNA and hemoglobin (Hb) adducts. CYP1A2dependent N-oxidation activity is polymorphic in humans and several CYP1A2 polymorphic alleles are linked to significantly different activities (80). CYP1A2 activity polymorphism was commonly assessed phenotypically as rapid or slow inducibility to environmental toxin and carcinogens. Rapid CYP1A2 phenotype has been implicated in the activation (N-oxidation) of aromatic amine-DNA adducts for human bladder carcinogenesis (80). However, when Gago-Dominguez et al. studied the risk between female permanent hair dye users and bladder cancer modified by CYP1A2 activity, they found that the CYP1A2 "slow" women who are permanent hair dye users had a 2.5-fold significantly increased risk of bladder cancer, while CYP1A2 "rapid" women had a 1.3-fold insignificantly increased risk for bladder cancer. The significant association between permanent hair dye usage and bladder cancer risk correlated with frequency and duration of hair dye usage in CYP1A2 "slow" individuals (81).

CYP2C19 polymorphisms are also linked to cancer risk. CYP2C19 encodes the enzyme S-mephenytoin hydroxylase, which is deficient in some individuals who are slow (poor) metabolizers of the anticonvulsant mephenytoin. Two relatively common variant alleles, together with at least five other rarer alleles and the absence of enzyme activity of CYP2C19 gene, have been identified (82). CYP2C19 poor metabolizer polymorphism is associated with low incidence of bladder cancer in a case-control study of the Chinese population (83).

CYP2D6 encodes debrisoquine hydroxylase, whose substrates include aromatic amines, tobacco nitrosamines and a wide range of commonly prescribed drugs (84). Five to ten percent of Caucasians are recessive, homozygous, and are termed poor metabolizers (in contrast to extensive metabolizers, who are wild-types) since they are unable to metabolize various substances (85). The poor metabolizer phenotype is associated with reduced bladder cancer susceptibility in several studies suggesting that the enzyme is involved in the conversion of procarcinogens to proximate carcinogens (86-88). In contrast to the consistent association of CYP2D6 phenotypes and bladder cancer risk, the role of CYP2D6 genotypes in bladder cancer is unclear. Some studies did not find an association between CYP2D6 polymorphism and bladder cancer (85, 89-92), while others found a significant increase in the proportion of poor metabolizers or heterozygotes in leukemia, bladder

Table 1. Chromosomal locations and common functional polymorphisms of discussed genes

Table 1.	. Chromosor	nai locations	and common funct	ionai polymorpnisi	ms of discussed genes
Genes	Chromosome		Nucleotide Change	Amino Acid Change	Functional Relevance (Reference)
	Location	location			
	en Metabolism				
CYP1A2	15q24.1	Intron	C734A	N/A	Associated with an increased activity in smokers (9)
		5'UTR	G-2964A	N/A	Associated with a decreased activity in smokers (10)
CYP2C19	10q23.33	Coding	G681A	Premature stop codon	Associated with a poor metabolize phenotype (11)
		Coding	G636A	Premature stop codon	Associated with a poor metabolize phenotype (12)
CYP2D6	22q13.2	Entire gene	footnote 1	footnote 2	Associated with an increased enzyme activity (13)
		Intron	CYP2D6*4, G1846A	Splicing defect	Associated with an increased enzyme activity (13)
		Entire gene	CYP2D6*5, deletion	deletion	Associated with an increased enzyme activity (13)
		Coding	CYP2D6*10, C/T, T/A		Associated with an increased enzyme activity (13)
		Coding	CYP2D6*17 C/T,C/T,T/A	Thr107Ile, Arg296Cys, Ser496Thr	Associated with an increased enzyme activity (13)
CYP2E1	10q26.1	5' UTR	G-1259C	N/A	Associated with an altered enzyme activity (14-15)
		5'UTR	C-1019T	N/A	Associated with an altered enzyme activity (14-15)
CYP1A1	15q24.1	3' UTR	C/T (Msp1)	N/A	Associated with an increased lung cancer risk (16)
CYP1B1	2q22.2	Coding	C/G	Arg48Gly	Associated with a higher catalytic efficiency for the estrogen hydroxylation than the wild-type (17)
		Coding	G/T	Ala119Ser	Same as above
		Coding	G/C	Val432Leu	Same as above
		Coding	A/G	Asn453Ser	Same as above
NQO1	16q22.1	Coding	C/T	Pro187Ser	Associated with a reduced enzyme activity (18)
GSTM1	1p13.3	Entire gene	Deletion	Deletion	Associated with a null phenotype (19)
GSTT1	22q11.23	Entire gene	Deletion	Deletion	Associated with a null phenotype (20)
GSTP1	11q13.2	Coding	A/G	Ile105Val	Associated with an altered enzyme activity (21-22)
GSTA1	6p12.2	Promoter	GSTA1*A GST1A*B	N/A	Associated with a significantly decreased protein expression (23)
GSTM3	1p13.3	Intron	3-bp deletion	N/A	Associated with an altered gene expression (24)
SULT1A1	16p11.2	Coding	G/A	Arg213His	Associated with a decreased activity and lower stability (25)
UGT2B7	4q13.2	Coding	C/T	His268Tyr	Associated with an elevated bladder cancer risk in workers formerly exposed to benzidine (26)
NAT1	8p22	3' UTR	NAT1*10, T1088A C1095A	N/A	Associated with a fast acetylator phenotype (27-28)
		Coding	NAT1*14, G/A	Arg187Gln	Associated with a fast acetylator phenotype (27-28)
		Coding	NAT1*15, C/T	Arg187Stop	Associated with slow acetylator phenotype (27-28)
NAT2	8p22	Coding	G/A	Arg64Gln	Associated with slow acetylation (27, 29)
		Coding	T/C	Ile114Thr	Associated with slow acetylation (27, 29)
		Coding	G/A	Arg197Gln	Associated with slow acetylation (27, 29)
		Coding	G/A	Gly286Glu	Associated with slow acetylation (27, 29)
MPO	17q23.2	Coding	C/T	Arg569Trp	Associated with complete enzyme deficiency (30)
		Promoter	G-463A	N/A	Associated with a reduced mRNA expression (31)
COMT	22q11.21	Coding	G/A	Val108Met	Associated with lower enzyme activity (32)
MnSOD	6q25.3	Coding	T/C	Ile58Thr	Associated with reduced enzyme activity (33)
		Coding	T/C	Val16Ala	Associated with defective protein localization (34)
GPX1	3p21.31	Coding	C/T	Pro198Leu	Associated with less response to selenium (35)
ADH3	4q23	Coding	Allele gamma1 or gamma2, G/A	Arg271Gln	Associated with 2.5 times slower rate to metabolize ethanol (36)
DNA Repa	air Genes				
XPD	19q13.32	Coding	G/A	Asp312Asn	Associated with a reduced DNA repair capacity and an increased lung cancer risk (37)
	1	Coding	A/C	Lys751Gln	Same as above
XPG	13q33.1	Coding	G/C	Asp1104His	Associated with a reduced bladder cancer risk (38)
XPC	3p25.1	Coding	C/T	Ala499Val	Associated with an increased lung cancer risk (39)
	1	Coding	A/C	Lys939Gln	Associated with increased bladder cancer risk (38)
	1	Intron	Poly AT	N/A	Associated with an increased risk for SCC of the head and neck (40)
APE1	14q11.2	Coding	T/G	Asp148Glu	Associated with ionizing radiation sensitivity (41)
XRCC1	19q13.31	Coding	C/T	Arg194Trp	Associated with a protective effect on bladder cancer risk (42)
		Coding	G/A	Arg280His	Associated with impaired DNA repair ability (43)
	š	-			

	1	T	T	T	I
		Coding	G/A	Arg399Gln	Associated with reduced DNA repair ability and ionizing radiation sensitivity (41, 44)
		3'UTR	(AC) _n Microsatellite	N/A	Associated with the clinical radiosensivity phenotype in cancer patients (45)
NBS1	8q21.3	Coding	G/C	Glu185Gln	Associated with greater prevalence of p53 mutation in lung cancer patients (46)
XRCC3	14q32.33	Coding	C/T	Thr241Met	Associated with higher DNA adduct levels (47)
		Intron	(AC) _n Microsatellite	N/A	Associated with the clinical radiosensivity phenotype in cancer patients (45)
XRCC4	5q14.2	Coding	G/T	Ser307Ser	No significant association.
		Coding	T/C	Ile134Thr	No significant association
		Splice site	A/G	N/A	No significant association
MSH3	5q14.1	Coding	G/A	Pro222Pro	No significant association
		Coding	A/G	Thr1036Ala	Associated with pathological stage in bladder cancer (48)
	Control Gene				
P53	17p13.1	Coding	G/C	Arg72Pro	Associated with altered abilities to bind components of the transcriptional machinery, to active transcription, to induce apoptosis, and to repress transformation of primary cells (49)
		Intron 3	A 16-bp duplication	N/A	Associated with a reduced mRNA level (50)
		Intron 6	G/A	N/A	Associated with an increased lung cancer risk (51)
P21	6p21.31	Coding	C/A	Ser31Arg	Associated with an increased risk in lung cancer (52)
CCND1	11q13.3	Splice site	G870A	Pro242Pro	Associated with alternative gene expression and protein stability (53).
CDKN2A	9p21.3	Entire gene	Deletion	Deletion	Associated with altered bladder cancer risk (54)
		3' UTR	C500G	N/A	Associated with an increased risk in familial melanoma (55), and lower tumor-specific survival of bladder cancer (56)
		3' UTR	C540T	N/A	Associated with a sub-group of low grade vertical growth phase melanomas (57), and increased risk of stage progression and lower tumor- specific survival of bladder cancer (56)
Inflamma	tion Genes				4
IL-1?	2q13	Promoter	C-511T	N/A	Associated with an increased risk of gastric cancer (58)
		Promoter	C-31T	N/A	Associated with an increased risk of gastric cancer (58)
		Coding	C3954T	Phe105Phe	No significant Association
IL-4	5q23.3	Intron 3	70bp VNTR	N/A	Associated with bladder cancer occurrence (59)
IL-6	7p15.3	Promoter	G-174C	N/A	Associated with altered gene transcription and plasma IL-6 level (60)
PPARG	3p25.2	Coding	C/G	Pro12Ala	Associated with an decreased receptor activity, lower body mass index and improved insulin sensitivity (61)
TNF- alpha	6p21.33	Promoter	C-859T	N/A	Associated with an increased risk of bladder cancer (62)
		Promoter	G-308A	N/A	Associated with higher expression of TNF-alpha in vitro and in vivo (63)
		Intron	G488A	N/A	Associated with bladder cancer risk (62)
TGFBR1	9q22.33	Coding	Deletion	Deletion of three Ala.	Associated with less efficiency of transducing TGF-beta growth inhibition signal (64)
		Intron	G/A (Int7G24A)	N/A	Associated with kidney and bladder cancer risk (65)
COX-2	1q31.1	Promoter	G-765C	N/A	Associated with altered promoter activity (66)
		Promoter	T-1186G	N/A	Associated with bladder cancer risk (67)
VEGF	6p21.1	Promoter	G-1154A	N/A	Associated with VEGF production (68)
		Promoter	C-2578A	N/A	Associated with VEGF production (68)
Apoptosis		- I	0.0	TT. 2004	
DR4	8p21.3	Coding	C/G	Thr209Arg	Associated with a decreased bladder cancer risk (69)
G proteins		G II	TI/C	11: 2711:	A
H-ras	4p14	Coding	T/C VNTD	His27His	Associated with bladder cancer risk (38, 70)
RGS2	1q31.2	Intron 3' UTR	VNTR G/C	N/A N/A	Associated with altered transcriptional activity (71) Associated with a reduced bladder cancer risk (72)
RGS6	14q24.2	3' UTR	C/T	N/A N/A	Associated with a reduced bladder cancer risk (72) Associated with a reduced bladder cancer risk (72)
GNAS1	20q13.32	Coding	T/C	Ile131Ile	Associated with a reduced bladder cancer risk (72) Associated with bladder cancer outcome (73)
	sion Molecule		1/0	110131110	rassociated with biadder cancer outcome (73)
E- cadherin	16q22.1	Promoter	C-160A	N/A	Associated with a decreased gene transcription (74)
	on Related Ge	nes			
DNMT3b		Promoter	C-149T	N/A	Associated with an increased promoter activity (75)
MTHFR	1p36.22	Coding	C/T	Ala222Val	Associated with an altered enzyme activity (76)
		Coding	A/C	Glu429Ala	Associated with an altered enzyme activity (76) and bladder cancer risk (77)
MS	1q43	Coding	A/G	Asp919Gly	Associated with bladder cancer risk (77)
					7 2 Dunlication or multidunlication of the entire gane with

¹ CYP2D6*2xN (N=2, 3, 4, 5 or 13), and G1661C, C2850T, G4180C ² Duplication or multiduplication of the entire gene with point mutations Arg296Cys and Ser486Thr.

cancer and melanoma patients (93). The difference in study sample sizes may account for this discordance.

CYP2E1 catalyzes the metabolic activation of various tobacco-related N-nitrosamines, such as N-nitroso-

dimethylamine and N-nitrosonornicotine, both of which are potent bladder carcinogens in experimental animals (94). Several polymorphisms of CYP2E1 were studied in bladder cancer. Two completely linked polymorphisms in the 5' flanking region of the gene, G-1259C and C-1019T, were reportedly associated with an altered enzyme activity. However, these reports have conflicting results with regard to the way in which the enzyme activity is altered. Some found that the -1259C and -1019T variants are linked with increased activity (14), while others found these variants are associated with decreased enzyme activity or noninducibility (15, 95). Five case-control studies did not find any statistically significant impact of these polymorphisms on bladder cancer risk (89-90, 96-98). One study found the CYP2E1 -1259 G/G and -1019 C/C combined genotype was significantly higher in bladder cancer patients than in controls in their Asian population study (99). Interethnic differences in frequency of this polymorphism might account for some of the inconsistent results (100). Three less described polymorphisms, C9930G, A7766T (in intron 6), and Arg76His (in exon 2) were also studied, but no effect on bladder cancer risk was found (90, 96-97, 101).

No significant association was found between CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 polymorphisms and bladder cancer risk in previous published studies (90, 102).

NQO1 (NADPH quinine oxidoreductase-1) plays an important role in protection against endogenous and exogenous quinines by catalyzing two- or four-electron reductions of these substrates (103). NQO1 can rapidly interconvert nucleophiles and electrophiles before conjugated by phase II enzymes. NQO1 has long been viewed as a chemoprotective enzyme involved in cellular defense against the electrophilic and oxidizing metabolites of xenobiotic quinines (104). A C→T genetic polymorphism at nucleotide 609 of NQO1 results in a proline-to-serine amino acid substitution at codon 187 and reduced enzyme activity (18). Three Caucasian studies suggested that NQO1 T/T genotype was associated with higher risks of bladder cancer (105-107). A Korean study had an opposite result, indicating that the NQO1 C/C genotypes were significantly more prevalent in bladder cancer patients than in controls (99). Four studies did not find any significant overall association between the NQO1 polymorphism and bladder cancer risk (38,108-110). The distribution of this SNP was significantly different among different ethnicities, which may partly explain the contradictory results. In addition to the Pro187Ser SNP, Sanyal et al. also studied the Arg134Trp SNP of NQO1, but no significant effect was found (38).

GST (glutathione S-transferases) comprises a major group of phase II enzymes that play the key role in the detoxification of xenobiotics, environmental substances, and carcinogenic compounds (111). At least five mammalian GST families have been identified, and polymorphisms of these genes contribute to the predisposition for several diseases, including cancer (111). Among previously published reports, GSTM1and GSTT1 are two extensively studied GST genes for their association

with bladder cancer risk (89, 90, 92, 102, 108-109, 112-135).

A majority of the studies suggested that the null genotypes of GSTM1 are significantly associated with increased risk of bladder cancer (89, 90, 92, 102, 109, 112, 114-120, 122, 124, 126-130). However, a few papers indicated that no statistically significant connection was identified for GSTM1 null polymorphism and bladder cancer risk (108, 113, 121, 123, 125, 131-134). Engel et al. (130) performed meta- and pooled analyses of published and unpublished, case-control, genotype-based studies (17 studies, 2.149 cases, 3.646 controls) that examined the association between GSTM1 null genotypes and bladder cancer risk, obtaining a summary odds ratio of 1.44 (95% CI: 1.23, 1.68) for GSTM1 null status with all studies included. Results from studies with at least 100 cases and 100 controls produced a summary odds ratio of 1.42 (95% CI: 1.26, 1.60). There was a suggestion of additive interaction (additive interaction = 0.45, 95% CI: -0.03, 0.93), but no evidence of multiplicative interaction between the GSTM1 null genotype and ever smoking, in relation to bladder cancer.

The results for the GSTT1 null polymorphism are controversial. Many studies indicated that increased bladder cancer risk is associated with GSTT1 null genotypes (38, 90, 92, 102, 113, 123, 125-126), while many others did not find this association (108-109, 112, 114-116, 119, 121-122, 127, 129, 131, 135). Interestingly, Brockmoller et al. found that the significant risk associated with GSTT1 null genotype was only found in the nonsmoker subgroup (90). More surprisingly, Kim et al. found that GSTT1 positive genotype was associated with increased risk (128). A synergistic effect between GSTM1 null genotype and GSTT1 null genotype was described in some studies. A significantly higher risk was found when individuals were carrying both null genotypes (102, 113, 116, 126).

An $A\rightarrow G$ transition at nucleotide 313 of GSTP1 cDNA results in an amino acid substitution (Ile105Val) that alters the catalytic activity of the enzyme. The variant G allele was found to confer increased bladder cancer risk by three different studies (21, 98, 124); however, five other studies did not find any significant association (109, 119, 131, 136-137).

Several linked polymorphisms in the proximal promoter of GSTA1, in which the variant allele is associated with decreased expression of GSTA1, has been found to be associated with breast cancer (138). Broberg et al. studied one of the polymorphisms in bladder cancer and did not find association with bladder cancer risk (109).

GSTM3 gene is in the gene cluster of GSTM1-GSTM5. A 3-bp deletion polymorphism in intron 6 of GSTM3 generates a binding site for transcription factor yin yang 1, which could influence GSTM3 expression (24). Schnakenberg et al. reported that the variant genotypes increased the risk for bladder cancer and that homozygous

wild types of GSTM1 and GSTM3 were significantly protected against bladder cancer (118).

SULT (soluble sulfotransferases) is a phase II enzyme superfamily that plays active roles in carcinogen metabolism. SULT1A1 is a highly expressed SULT gene that has a broad substrate tolerance. SULT1A1 appears to be the principle human SULT form involved in the elimination of most phenolic xenobiotics as well as some other substrates (139). The Arg213His polymorphism in SULT1A1 has a strong influence on the activity and stability of the enzyme. Zheng et al. described a statistically significant protective role of the variant His allele (140). Hung et al. also found a similar protective role, although the effect was marginal (102).

UGT (UDP-glucuronosyltransferases) represents another major phase II drug-metabolizing enzyme family. The members of this enzyme family share roles in detoxification and elimination of endo- and xenobiotics (141). UGT2B7 is involved in benzidine metabolism (26). To evaluate the possible association of UGT2B7 polymorphism with bladder cancer risk for benzidine-exposed subjects, Lin et al. studied the genotype distribution of the His268Tyr polymorphism of UGT2B7 in a cohort of benzidine-exposed workers (26). Their data indicated that there is an association between the homozygous variant genotype of His268Tyr polymorphism and elevated bladder cancer risk for workers formerly exposed to benzidine (26).

NAT (N-acetyltransferases) catalyzes the metabolic activation of aromatic and heterocyclic amine carcinogens by acetylation. NAT1 and NAT2 are two distinct NAT isozymes existing in the human population. NAT2 gene is subject to extensive polymorphism, which segregates the populations into rapid, intermediate and slow acetylator phenotypes (142). NAT1 gene is also subject to polymorphism, but less commonly than NAT2 (143). These polymorphisms of NAT1 and NAT2 catalytic activities affect carcinogen metabolism and subsequently affect cancer risk.

NAT1*10 is a NAT1 polymorphism harboring elevated enzyme activity (27, 144), while NAT1*14A, the wild type, codes for a protein with decreased enzyme activity (27-28). Seven studies did not find a significant overall effect of NAT1*10 allele on bladder cancer risk (102, 109, 132, 145-148). A significant increased risk between bladder cancer and smokers possessing the NAT1*10 allele was reported in two studies (148-149). However, in the study by Cascorbi et al., NAT1*10 was found to have a protective role instead (150). They also showed that NAT1*14A was associated with increased bladder cancer risk (150).

NAT2 activity is highest in the liver and gastrointestinal tract. NAT2 polymorphisms and their association with bladder cancer have been extensively studied. NAT2 alleles containing the G191A, T341C, A434C, G590A, and/or G857A missense substitutions are associated with slow acetylator phenotypes (27). NAT2*4

is the wild-type allele without any mutations (27, 142). There are consistent reports on the connection of the NAT2 slow acetylator polymorphisms with higher bladder cancer risk, both independently (121, 146, 150-154) and in association with smoking or occupational exposures (especially arylamine exposure) (90, 102, 132, 145, 148, 150-151, 154-155). In several pooled analyses, NAT2 slow acetylators were associated with a modest increase (30 to 40%) in bladder cancer risk as compared with rapid acetylators (151-153, 155). Vineis et al. (151) included 6 studies for 1530 cases and 731 controls (all Caucasian) and found that there was a significant association between NAT2 polymorphisms and bladder cancer risk (OR: 1.42. 95% CI: 1.14-1.77). The risk of cancer was elevated in smokers and occupationally exposed subjects, confirming that the NAT2 slow acetylator genetypes are a risk factor for bladder cancer when paired with smoking or occupational exposures. In another meta-analysis of 21 published case-control studies, the pooled OR of bladder cancer associated with slow NAT2 acetylator genotypes was 1.31 (95% CI: 1.11-1.55) (152). Finally, Marcus et al. (153) also conducted a meta-analysis of 22 studies, 2496 cases, and 3340 controls. Slow acetylators had an approximately 40% increase in risk compared with rapid acetylators (OR=1.4, 95% CI: 1.2-1.6). This meta-analysis also suggested that the relationship between NAT2 slow acetylation and bladder cancer risk seemed to differ by geographical region. Studies conducted in Asia produced a summary OR of 2.1 (95% CI 1.2-3.8); in Europe, a summary OR of 1.4 (95% CI 1.2-1.6); and in the United States, a summary OR of 0.9 (95% CI 0.7-1.3) (153). However, a recent meta-analysis by Carreon et al (156) on Asian populations showed an OR similar to that in European populations (OR=1.4, 95% CI 1.0 – 2.0). More intriguingly, this study found a statistically significant protective association between NAT2 slow acetylator and bladder cancer risk in benzidine-exposed male workers in China, in contrast to its established link with increased bladder cancer risk in people exposed to naphthylamine, suggesting that different carcinogen exposure may modify the effect of NAT2 slow acetylation.

The combined effect of NAT1 and NAT2 genotypes were also addressed in some of the studies. Taylor et al. found that bladder cancer risk from smoking exposure is high in those who inherit NAT2 slow alleles in combination with one or two copies of the NAT1*10 allele (149). Stern et al. showed that the combined presence of the genotypes of NAT1 high-risk and (NAT1*10/NAT2-slow) and the XPD Lys/Lys or Lys/Gln genotypes ignoring smoking had a more than 2-fold significantly increased risk for bladder cancer (157). Hung et al. observed a significant increased risk when NAT1 slow and NAT2 slow genotypes were combined (102). Cascorbi et al. described a significantly decreased risk (61%) of individuals with NAT1*10 genotypes and rapid NAT2 genotypes (150). In addition, individuals with NAT2*slow/NAT1*4 genotype combinations and a history of occupational exposure were at an approximate 6fold significant increased risk compared to individuals without occupation exposure (150).

Myeloperoxidase (MPO), catechol-omethyltransferase (COMT), manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) and glutathione peroxidase 1(GPX1) are single genes that encode four critical phase II enzymes modulating carcinogen metabolism. MPO produces a strong oxidant, hypochlorous acid, and also activates procarcinogens in tobacco smoke (158-159). A single base transition G-463A of MPO promoter was identified at the SP1 binding site. The A allele is associated with reduced mRNA expression as a result of reduced binding of SP1 (31). COMT catalyzes the methylation of various endobiotic and xenobiotic substances, preventing quinine formation and redox cycling (160). A G-to-A allele transition, which results in a valine change to a methionine at codon 108, leads to a lower COMT enzyme activity (32). The Met/Met genotype of COMT has a quarter of the wildtype activity, and the heterozygote has the intermediate activity (32). Manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) is one of the primary enzymes that directly scavenge potential harmful oxidizing species and can be induced by free radical challenge and cigarette smoke (161). The valine variant of MnSOD Val16Ala (Ala-9Val or Ala9Val) polymorphism has been associated with protein structure change leading to defective mitochondrial localization of the protein (34). Hung et al. reported the association between bladder cancer risk and genetic polymorphisms in MPO, COMT and MnSOD (105). Their data suggested that MPO G-463A homozygous variant was associated with an approximately 70% significantly reduced risk of bladder cancer. MnSOD Val/Val genotype significantly increased the risk of bladder cancer about 2-fold; and no effect was observed for COMT Val108Met polymorphism (105). GPX1 is a selenium-dependent enzyme that participates in the detoxification of hydrogen peroxide and a wide range of organic peroxides with reduced glutathione (162). The variant Leu allele of the Pro198Leu polymorphism was shown to be less responsive than the Pro allele during stimulation of the GPX1 enzyme by in vitro selenium supplementation (35). Ichimura et al. (163) analyzed the bladder cancer risk association of this GPX1 polymorphism, the MnSOD Val16Ala polymorphism, and another MnSOD SNP, Ile58Thr, which was indicated to affect stability and activity of MnSOD (33, 164). They found that the GPX1 Pro/Leu genotype might significantly increase the risk of bladder cancer and that the increased risk may be modified by the Val16Ala MnSOD polymorphism (163). The Val16Ala and Ile58Thr polymorphisms of MnSOD alone provide no significant results (163). Terry et al. also suggested that the Val16Ala SNP of MnSOD had no effect on bladder cancer risk (110).

In addition to chemical carcinogens, some studies proposed the idea of alcohol consumption as a possible risk factor for bladder cancer (3-4). Zeegers et al. (4) performed a meta-analysis of 16 epidemiological studies published up to April 1999 and calculated that the age- and smoking-adjusted summary ORs (current alcohol drinking vs. non-drinking) were 1.3 (95% CI 0.9-2.0) for six studies with men and 1.0 (95% CI 0.4-2.6) for four studies with women. They concluded that the available data suggest a slightly increased risk of bladder cancer from alcohol consumption for men. van Dijk suggested a link between polymorphisms

in alcohol dehydrogenase type 3 (ADH3) and risk of bladder cancer (165). ADH3 catalyzes the oxidation of ethanol to acetaldehyde and plays a rate-limiting role in the metabolic pathway for most human ethanol oxidation (166). Genetic variants with altered kinetic properties have been identified at ADH3 locus. Gamma1 and gamma2 are two different alleles of ADH3. van Dijk et al. found that moderate drinkers with the "high-risk" (gamma1 gamma1) genotype appeared to have a 3-fold higher risk of bladder cancer compared to moderate drinkers with a "low-risk" (gamma1 gamma2 or gamma2 gamma2) genotype (165). However, there was no interaction between ADH3 genotype and alcohol intake (165).

3.2. DNA repair

DNA damage, via constant attack from numerous chemical and physical agents, can initiate cancer. About 10,000 lesions are introduced in each cell every day (167). Our DNA repair mechanisms prevent the accumulation of the undesirable DNA injuries. Nucleotide-excision repair (NER), base-excision repair (BER), homologous recombination (HR), non-homologous end-joint (NHEJ) and mismatch repair (MMR) are the main DNA repair systems (168). Each of these repair systems can recognize and fix an array of damage. In the meantime, these repair systems form an intertwining network that functions cooperatively (168). Genetic polymorphisms of DNA repair proteins with a suboptimal DNA repair capacity have been linked to increased cancer risk.

NER is the most versatile DNA repair pathway. It operates primarily on bulky lesions caused by environmental mutagens, such as UV light and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (168-169). XPC and ERCC6 are essential in the NER damage recognition step with different target specificity. Once the DNA damage is recognized, the XPB and XPD helicases, which are NER proteins of the multi-subunit transcription factor TFIIH, open ~30 base pairs of DNA around the damage. Here, the XPA protein confirms and binds to the damaged DNA. Subsequently, two structure-specific endonucleases, XPG and the XPF/ERCC1 complex, cleave 3' and 5' (respectively) of the borders of the opened stretch in the damaged strand. Finally, DNA polymerase and ligase complete the repair by filling the gaps. Two SNPs in the XPD gene are particularly well studied: the G→A polymorphism leading to Asp \rightarrow Asn at codon 312 in exon 10 and the A \rightarrow C polymorphism leading to Lys→Gln at codon 751 in exon 23. Approximately fifty papers have investigated these two polymorphisms and their association with cancer risk at ten different tumor sites. Among these publications, six described the association between Lys751Gln polymorphism and bladder cancer risk (38, 109, 157, 170-172). Although none found an overall significant association of the Lys751Gln polymorphism with bladder cancer risk, Stern et al. suggested that among ever-smokers, those with the Lys/Lys or Lys/Gln genotypes were twice more likely to have bladder cancer than those with Gln/Gln genotype (157). Conversely, Schabath et al. indicated that the variant Gln genotypes were significantly associated with an increased bladder cancer risk in women and heavy smokers, whereas no significant association between the

Asp312Asn and bladder cancer risk was observed (172). Broberg et al., however, found that the homozygous variant Asn alleles of Asp312Asn SNP were significantly associated with increased bladder cancer risk (109). A protective role for the occurrence of bladder cancer was found for the homozygous variant His allele of XPG Asp1104His by Sanyal et al. (38). Sanyal et al. also found that the variant allele frequency of Lys939Gln polymorphism of XPC was significantly higher in bladder cancer cases than in the controls (38). Broberg et al. studied two other SNPs of XPC (Ala497Val, a C→A in intron), but did not find any effect (109). Larger sample size studies and pool analysis are needed to clarify the association between XPD polymorphisms and bladder cancer risk.

BER proteins mainly work on damaged DNA bases arising from endogenous oxidative and hydrolytic decay of DNA (168, 173). APE1, a rate-limiting enzyme of BER, has endonuclease function. DNA polymerase beta performs DNA-gap filling at the lesions in BER pathway. XRCC1 functions as a scaffold protein in BER. It does this by bringing DNA polymerase beta and ligase together at the site of repair. XRCC1-ligase3 complex seals the remaining DNA nick following the action of DNA polymerase beta. Broberg et al. studied the relationship between Asp148Glu SNP of APE1 and bladder cancer risk, but did not find any significant association (109). Three common polymorphisms in XRCC1 are Arg399Gln, Arg280His and Arg194Trp. Seven epidemiological studies examined the effect of these three polymorphisms on bladder cancer risk (38, 42, 109, 170-171, 174-175). Homozygous carriers of the variant Gln alleles of the Arg399Gln polymorphism, had a 40% reduced risk when compared with those carrying one or both wild-type Arg alleles (174). Shen et al. also suggested a protective influence of Arg399Gln homozygous variant Gln alleles among heavy smokers, though no overall impact of Arg399Gln was found (171). Studies by Sanyal et al., Broberg et al. and Matullo et al. suggested Arg399Gln had no effect on bladder cancer risk (38, 109, 170). Stern et al. studied all three polymorphisms of XRCC1 (42). No statistical significant effect was found for Arg399Gln and Arg280His polymorphisms, but they reported that carrying at least one copy of the XRCC1 codon 194 variant allele has a protective impact on bladder cancer occurrence (42).

HR and NHEJ are two distinct and complementary pathways in double-strand break (DSB) repair (168, 176). DSB is considered the most detrimental DNA damage in cells, since both DNA strands are affected. DSBs arise from a number of mechanisms, such as ionizing radiation, X-ray, certain chemotherapeutic agents and replication errors (168). Previous reports studied NBS1 and XRCC3, two HR proteins, and their associations with bladder cancer (38, 109, 170-171, 175). NBS1, part of an exonuclease complex that takes part in the first event of HR, resects the DNA to yield single-strands of overhangs (168, 176). Defects in NBS1 are associated with the Nijmegen breakage syndrome (NBS), a disorder that is characterized by developmental defects, radiosensitivity and predisposition to cancer (168). No significant effect of the common NBS1 Glu185Gln polymorphism was

identified in two case-control studies of bladder cancer risk (38, 109). XRCC3 has a critical role in catalyzing strand exchange reaction in HR (168, 176). XRCC3 Thr241Met polymorphism and its association with bladder cancer were described in several studies (38, 109, 170-171, 175). The variant Met allele was found associated with a 2.77-fold higher overall risk for bladder cancer by Matullo et al. (170). In the study by Shen et al., the Thr241Met variant genotype exhibited a protective effect against bladder cancer, contrasted to the finding by Matullo et al. (171). Three studies did not find a significant effect of the Thr241Met polymorphism on bladder cancer risk (38, 109, 175), but a combinatorial protective effect for bladder cancer was identified between XRCC3 and XRCC1, a BER gene, in the study by Stern et al. (175). XRCC4 stabilizes and enhances the activity of DNA ligase IV by interacting with it to form a physical complex in NHEJ (168, 176). Broberg et al. studied the association of a G→A polymorphism at the splice site of XRCC4 on bladder cancer risk, but found no effect (109).

The primary function of MMR is to eliminate base-base mismatches and insertion-deletion loops occurring as a consequence of DNA polymerase slippage during DNA replication (168). MSH3 is one of the MMR genes. Two SNPs (Pro222Pro, Thr1036Ala) were studied in MSH3, and no significant impact on bladder cancer occurrence was observed, but the Thr1036Ala SNP was significantly associated with pathological stage of bladder cancer (48).

3.3. Cell cycle control

Cell cycle controls are biochemical pathways that regulate cell cycle progression in response to DNA damage. Losses of cell cycle control appear to be early steps in the development of carcinogenesis and, ultimately, cancer progression. The regulation of the cell cycle is governed by both positive and negative cell cycle regulatory factors. p53 is a transcription factor that acts as a fundamental regulator of cell cycle arrest in the cell. This is supported by the fact that p53 is the most frequently inactivated in malignantly transformed cells. p53 elicits cell cycle arrest through activation of downstream genes such as p21. Genetic variants in some of the cell cycle regulators were studied for their associations with bladder cancer risk.

p53 mutations have been described in more than 50% of human cancers. Eight case-control studies described the association between p53 polymorphism and bladder cancer risk (135, 177-183). Seven of these studies showed that there was no significant overall association between bladder cancer risk and p53 Arg72Pro, p53 intron 6, or p53 intron 7 polymorphisms (135, 177, 179-183). However, Kuroda et al. reported that even though no overall effect was found for the codon 72 SNP, smokers carrying both copies of the variant Pro alleles are at a 2.28fold increased risk for bladder cancer and that light smokers have even higher risk (6.83-fold) (177). Soulitzis et al. indicated, on the contrary, that the wild-type Arg allele was associated with a 2.67-fold higher risk of bladder cancer (178). Chen et al. reported that the variant Arg allele of the p21 Ser31Arg polymorphism is associated with an approximate 2-fold increased risk for bladder cancer (184). Cyclin D1 (CCND1) is a key regulator of cell cycle progression. It is over-expressed in a high proportion of human bladder tumors (185). CCND1 G870A, a common SNP in the splice donor region of exon 4, may modulate expression of the gene (53). Wang et al. suggested that the variant A/A genotype was associated with a significantly higher risk for bladder cancer when compared with the G/A+G/G genotypes (186). This effect was more pronounced in nonsmoking cases (186). The study by Cortessis et al. indicated there was no association between A/A genotype of the same CCND1 SNP and bladder cancer risk (187).

3.4. Inflammation genes

There has been compelling evidence supporting the hypothesis that chronic inflammation contributes to cancer development. A substantial number of cancers derive from sites of chronic inflammation. Among 1.2 million global cases each year, more than 15% of malignancies can be attributed to infection (188).

Chronic irritation enhances cell proliferation, which, in a microenvironment rich in inflammatory cells, growth factors, and DNA-damage-inducing agents, may strongly increase cancer risk (189). Proinflammatory cytokines, growth factors, chemokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and COX-2 interact in a complex manner in the development and progression of an inflammatory environment (190). Genetic variants of inflammatory mediators have emerged in recent years as important determinants of cancer susceptibility and prognosis (190). Some of these polymorphisms have been linked to bladder cancer.

Cytokine proteins have key roles in carcinogenesis. On one hand, they are involved in the activation of the immune system to limit tumor growth. On the other hand, they may be involved in malignant transformation and tumor growth. IL-1ß is defined as one of the "alarm cytokines" secreted by macrophage to initiate inflammation (191). Polymorphisms of the IL-1B gene promoter and exon 5 have been screened for their role in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoporosis (192-193). Tsai et al. found that the two polymorphisms in IL-1β had no association with bladder cancer risk (59). IL-4 is a key cytokine produced by T cells and has an impact on B cell differentiation and proliferation. IL-4 inhibits macrophage activation and may be involved in cancer formation. A 70bp sequence of variable numbers of tandem repeats (VNTR) polymorphism in the third intron of IL-4 has been studied for its disease association (194). Tsai et al. suggested that the IL-4 intron 3 VNTR is associated with bladder cancer and is a potential genetic marker in screening for possible causes of bladder cancer (59). A G→C transversion at -174 of IL6 promoter affects gene transcription and the level of IL-6 protein (60). PPARG belongs to a sub-family of the nuclear-receptor family that regulates gene expression in response to ligand binding. A PPARG polymorphism in the coding region (C34G) that results in an amino acid change (Pro12 Ala) affects its receptor activity. Wang et al. in a case-control study

showed that the variant IL6 genotype was associated with 1.52-fold significant increased risk of bladder cancer (195). Furthermore, individuals with IL6 variant (C/C) and PPARG (C/G+ G/G) had an even higher bladder cancer risk (2.76-fold) (195).

TNF- alpha, a multifunctional cytokine, is key in inflammation, immunity and cellular organization (196). TNF- alpha has paradoxical roles in cancer, inducing destruction of blood vessels and cell-mediated killing of certain tumors as well as acting as a tumor promoter (197). TNF- alpha promoter region carries a large number of polymorphisms. -308G/A and -238G/A at the promoter region of TNF- alpha are well studied, but +488G/A in the first intron, as well as the promoter variants -1032T/C, -865C/A, -859C/T and -380G/A, might also have functional significance (198-199). Marsh et al. studied these seven TNF- alpha polymorphisms and their association with bladder cancer (62). In this study, a significant association between TNF polymorphisms, TNF+488A and TNF-859T, and risk of bladder cancer was detected (these two loci were in tight linkage disequilibrium) (62). No connection was discovered for the other five polymorphisms (62). Tsai et al. and Jeong et al. analyzed the link between the -308G/A polymorphism and bladder cancer risk in two different studies (200-201). Both studies did not find a significant effect of the -308G/A polymorphism (200-201) on bladder cancer occurrence.

TGF- beta is a potent inhibitor of epithelial cell proliferation and it belongs to the group of tumor-derived cytokines (202). It is a microenvironmental regulatory molecule that signals cell cycle arrest (203). TGF- beta production has been associated with the growth of a variety of cancers. Tumors frequently lose responsiveness to TGFbeta-mediated growth inhibition due to disruption in the TGF- beta signaling pathway (204). Acquisition of TGFbeta resistance has also been indicated as an important progression factor in bladder cancer (205). The TGF- beta signaling is transduced by TGF- beta type1 receptor (TGFBR1) and type 2 receptor (TGFBR2) (202). Genetic variants in these two types of receptors have been found in several cancer types (202, 206-208). A common polymorphism of TGFBR1, termed TGFBR1*6A, has a deletion of three alanines within a 9-alanine stretch in exon 1 (209). It has been reported that TGFBR1*6A transduces TGF- beta growth inhibition signal less efficiently than wild-type TGFBR1. This allele is present in 10% of the population and may act as a tumor susceptibility allele (64, 210). Kaklamani et al. performed a meta-analysis of seven case-control studies of TGFBR1*6A and cancer association (211). They concluded that there was no association between TGFBR1*6A and bladder cancer, although effects were found in other types of cancers (211). Chen et al. studied a G \rightarrow A SNP 24 bp downstream of the exon/intron 7 boundary (Int7G24A) of TGFBR1 gene (65). Their data suggested that the variant genotypes (G/A and A/A) were significantly associated with bladder cancer incidences (OR=2.45, 95% CI 1.89-3.16).

COX-2 has a central role in inflammatory response. COX-2 serves as a mediator of the acute and

chronic response to inflammation, pain, and other actions involved in cellular repair and proliferation (212). Aberrant or increased expression of COX-2 has been implicated in carcinogenesis (213-214). Kang et al. reported recently that polymorphisms in the promoter region of COX-2, a NF-kappa-B binding site, were associated with an increased risk of bladder cancer (67). They identified two polymorphisms, -1166 C \rightarrow G and -1186 T \rightarrow G, in the NF-kappa-B binding promoter region of COX-2 and concluded that the -1186 polymorphism is associated with bladder cancer risk (67). This may be due to the regulatory role of NF-kappa-B to COX-2 expression (67).

3.5. Apoptosis

Apoptosis plays a central role in cancer development. Two separate pathways (intrinsic and extrinsic) are able to trigger the caspase cascade of the apoptotic pathway (215-217). The extrinsic pathway is activated by the ligation of cell surface death receptors by their corresponding ligands (216-217), while the intrinsic pathway is triggered by disruption of mitochondrial membrane (215-216). Hazra et al. studied a key death receptor, DR4 (69). They found that a C→G polymorphism (C626G) at amino acid 209 (Thr209Arg), located immediately 3' to one of the main ligand interface regions, was associated with a 45% decreased risk of bladder cancer in a Caucasian population of 468 subjects (OR=0.55, 95% CI 0.36-0.84,69). This protective effect is more apparent in younger individuals, in women, and in light smokers (69).

3.6. G proteins

proteins are guanine-nucleotide-binding proteins that form a super-family of signal transduction proteins. The ras family of monomeric G proteins is small GTPases cycling between a GTP-bound active state and an inactive GDP-bound state (218). Three of the five human ras genes--including H-ras, K-ras, and N-ras are known to be associated with human cancer through mutation and/or over expression in tumors (219). A T→C SNP at nucleotide 81 of H-ras in exon 1 is linked to bladder cancer risk (38, 70). Individuals harboring the homozygous C/C genotype of the H-ras proto-oncogene were suggested to be at a 2fold increased risk by Johne et al. (70); however, Sanyal et al. suggested a strong protective effect (88% reduced risk) for the same genotype in their study (38). The H-ras VNTR polymorphism, 1 kb downstream from the H-ras gene, has been reported to be associated with risk of various cancers, including bladder cancer (220-221). Krontiris et al. carried out a case-control study and meta-analysis of their study and 22 other published studies and concluded that mutant alleles of H-ras VNTR polymorphism represented a major risk factor for common types of cancers, including bladder cancer (220). However, van Gils et al. in their case-control study did not find evidence of a strong overall effect of the H-ras VNTR polymorphism on bladder cancer risk (221).

The RGS (regulators of G-protein signaling) family of proteins negatively regulate heterotrimeric G-protein signaling (222). Berman et al., in a case-control study, explored the association between 11 SNPs in five RGS genes (RGS2, 5, 6, 11 and 17) (72). Their data indicated that three noncoding SNPs in RGS2 and RGS6

were each associated with a statistically significant reduction in bladder cancer risk (72). The risk of bladder cancer was reduced by 74% in those with the variant genotype at all three SNPs (72). When the SNPs were analyzed separately, the RGS6 $C \rightarrow T$ polymorphism in the 3' UTR conferred the greatest overall reduction of bladder cancer risk (34%) (72). This result is supported by a functional assay showing that the RGS6 $C \rightarrow T$ polymorphism increased the activity of a luciferase-RGS fusion protein 2.9-fold (72).

3.7.Cell adhesion molecules

Cell adhesion is essential in all aspects of cell growth, cell migration, and cell differentiation. A growing body of evidence suggests that alterations in the adhesion properties of neoplastic cells may be pivotal in the development and progression of the malignant phenotype in a range of tumors, including bladder cancer (223).

E-cadherin, a member of the cadherin family, interacts with cytoskeletal proteins through the catenin complex. E-cadherin seems to function as a tumor-suppressor; loss of expression and/or abnormal function of E-cadherin lead to loss of cell polarity and derangement of normal tissue architecture (224). A −160 C→A polymorphism in the promoter region of E-cadherin has been shown to decrease gene transcription (74). Two case-control studies analyzed the association between this −160 SNP and bladder cancer (225-226). Significant effect of the −160 SNP was found in both studies: The A allele carriers were at more than a 4-fold higher risk for TCC risk than C-only carriers (225), and individuals carrying the A/A genotype had a 2.3-fold higher risk for urothelial cancer (226).

3.8. Methylation gene

DNA methylation is an important epigenetic mechanism of gene regulation and plays essential roles in tumor initiation and progression. Aberrant epigenetic events, such as DNA hypo- and hypermethylation of CpGrich areas in or near the promoter region of tumorsuppressor and tumor-related genes, have been observed in various cancer types, including bladder cancer (227). Recent studies have shown that the methyltransferases DNMT1 and DNMT3b cooperatively maintain DNA methylation and gene silencing in human cancer cells (228). Given the critical roles of these methylation-related genes, genetic variants found in these genes might alter cancer susceptibility. A $C \rightarrow T$ transition at a novel promoter region of the DNMT3b is linked to significantly increased promoter activity (75). Hazra et al. studied this SNP in bladder cancer and found that the homozygous variant T/T genotype had a marginal but not significant protective effect for women when compared to C/C and C/T genotypes (229). This effect became more pronounced in women who never smoked and was exhibited by a significant 59% reduced risk (229). Methyl-binding proteins (MBD) bind to methylated DNA and recruit repression complexes containing histone deacetylaces. Zhu et al. reported that high levels of MBD2 expression were associated with a significantly reduced bladder cancer risk (230).

Genome-wide hypomethylation in human cancer consequence of decreased adenosylmethionine (SAM) level (231). Cancer risk might be modified by polymorphisms in methyl group metabolism genes that affect intracellular concentration of SAM, such as methylene-tetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) and methionine synthase Hypomethylation is particularly prevalent in TCC, making these methyl group metabolism genes good candidates for bladder cancer risk assessment (232). Four case-control studies analyzed the association between bladder cancer and two common MTHFR polymorphisms, Ala222Val (C677T) and Glu429Ala (A1298C) (38, 77, 108, 232). Two of these studies also investigated the Asp919Gly (A2756G) polymorphism of the MS gene (77, 232). Kimura et al. found that neither MTHFR Ala222Val SNP nor the MS Asp919Gly SNP had an effect on bladder cancer risk (232). Sanyal et al. did not find an effect for either MTHFR SNPs (38). Moore et al., however, showed that the MTHFR 677 C/T and T/T genotypes appeared protective against bladder cancer (108). Lin et al. investigated the joint effects of MTHFR and MS polymorphisms, dietary folate intake and cigarette smoking on bladder cancer risk (77). Compared to individuals with the MTHFR C677T wild type (C/C) and a high folate intake, those with the variant genotype (C/T or T/T) and a low folate intake were at a 3.51-fold increased risk of bladder cancer (77). When genotype was analyzed along with smoking status, it was found that current smokers with the variant genotype had a 6.56-fold increased risk compared to never smokers with MTHFR 677 wild type (77). Analyses of the MTHFR A1298C and MS A2756G revealed similar results, suggesting that polymorphisms of MTHFR and MS acted together with low folate intake and smoking to elevate bladder cancer risk (77).

4. GENETIC POLYMORPHISMS AND BLADDER CANCER PROGRESSION

Genetic differences may account for tumor progression and pathogenesis, such as tumor histopathology, cancer stage, tumor development, and tendency toward invasiveness. Several studies have demonstrated the relationship between the genotypes of enzymes in the carcinogen metabolism pathways and the aggressiveness of bladder tumors. The GSTM1-null genotype has been found to be significantly higher in invasive bladder cancer (117). GSTM1 and GSTT1 null genotypes were also found to be more prevalent in a higher grade (grade IV) of bladder cancer (92). However, Jeong et al., in their study of Korean subjects, found superficial or low-stage bladder tumors were more common among GSTM1 null genotypes (114). A different study by Kim et al. suggested that even though the GSTM1 null genotype was a statistically significant risk factor for bladder cancer, the GSTM1-positive genotype was an independent risk factor for cancer progression (128). This suggests that increased metabolism of urinary excretion by GSTM1 might promote cancer progression in bladder cancer patients (128). Ryk et al. determined that the presence of the Val allele of the GSTP1 Ile105Val SNP was significantly associated with higher stage tumors (Tis and

T2+) (233). Inatomi et al. investigated NAT2 slow genotype and its connection with bladder cancer (155). They discovered that bladder cancer patients with NAT2 slow genotype were more likely to have a high-grade tumor (G3) or have an advanced stage tumor (pT2-pT4); however, no effect on survival rate of patients with invasive bladder cancer was recognized (155). Studies by Mommsen et al. also supported the finding that NAT2 slow genotypes are linked to more aggressive forms of bladder cancer (234). The GPX1 Pro198Leu SNP was analyzed for its effect on bladder cancer risk by Ichimura et al. (163). They indicated that the Pro/Leu genotype was significantly associated with advanced tumor stage compared with the Pro/Pro genotype, suggesting the GPX1 genotype may further affect the disease status of bladder cancer (163).

It has been estimated that p53 mutation accounts for up to 61% of human bladder cancers (235). The frequency of p53 mutations has repeatedly been shown to be higher in bladder tumors of high stage and grade, and more specifically with advanced bladder cancer of grades 2 and 3 (236-240). However, controversial results were reported on the possible use of p53 as a surrogate marker of bladder cancer progression or survival (241-243). The wellstudied p53 Arg72Pro polymorphism was found associated with invasive bladder cancer: the Pro/Pro homozygotes were more prominent in invasive tumor (181). CCND1 G870A was related to bladder cancer progression in two studies (186, 244). Wang et al. reported that the presence of the A allele was associated with higher-grade (grade 3) tumors with a gene dosage effect (186). In tumor stage, although not significant, the AA+AG genotypes tended to be more frequently observed in cases with high-stage (T1-4) tumors than those with low-stage (Ta) tumors (186). Ito et al. found that the A/A genotype may recessively increase the risk of carcinoma in situ incidence in patients with superficial bladder cancer (244). The p21 Ser31Arg polymorphism that influenced bladder cancer risk also had an effect on disease status (184). It was shown that even though the Arg form was more prominent in cancer patients, Ser homozygotes were more prominent in the invasive group when compared to the non-invasive group (25 to 3.0%, respectively) (184). The CDKN2A gene that encodes p16^{INK4a} and p14^{ARF} proteins is inactivated frequently by homozygous deletion, hypermethylation of the CpG island, or point mutations (54, 245-246). A 500 C→G SNP and a 540 C→T SNP of CDKN2A in the 3' UTR region of the gene were analyzed by Sakano et al. in the clinical course of bladder cancer (56). This study found a statistically significant difference in genotype (C/C vs. C/T+T/T) for the C540T between cases with progressive disease as compared to those without evidence of progressive disease during follow-up (56). For Ta and T1tumors, the C/T+T/T genotype had a 2.5-fold higher risk for stage progression (56). Furthermore, the probability of tumor-specific survival was significantly lower in patients with either the variant genotypes of C500G or the C540T SNP than in those with wild-type CDKN2A (56).

A polymorphism $(C\rightarrow A)$ at the position of -2578 of the promoter of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) was associated with VEFG production, and was

shown to have a correlation with bladder cancer grade (68, 128). High-grade cancers were more frequently observed in patients with the C/C genotype compared with the C/A and A/A genotypes (128).

TNF alpha -308 G→A polymorphism in the promoter was analyzed for its association with bladder cancer stage and grade in three studies (62, 128, 201). Kim et al. observed that stage was significantly associated with the TNF- alpha genotype, with the G/G genotype being more frequent in patients with superficial disease compared with the G/A and A/A genotype (128). Jeong et al. found the G/A genotype was statistically more significant in patients with high-grade tumors than G/G genotype; however, tumor stage, recurrence and progression were not associated with this SNP (201). Marsh et al. did not find an effect of the -308 SNP, but they found significance of two other SNPs of TNF: TNF+488 $G\rightarrow A$ and $-859 C\rightarrow T$ (62). They also found that patients with TNF +488A or TNF -859T were more likely to present with a moderately differentiated tumor (G2) than those with the common allele (62).

The 81 T-C H-ras SNP not only increased bladder cancer risk, but also impacted disease status (70). The homozygous 81 C/C genotypes were overrepresented, particularly in the patient groups with poorly differentiated tumors (\geq G3), muscle-invasive tumors (\geq T2), and flat transitional cell carcinoma (advanced types of bladder cancer) (70). The G_{alpha}s subunit of G protein is encoded by GNAS1 gene, which is suggested for a role in cancer initiation and/or progression (247-248). Frey et al. genotyped the synonymous T393C polymorphism in 254 TCC patients to examine an association between genotype and cancer disease progression (73). Using Kaplan-Meier estimates to evaluate 5-year probabilities of follow-up, they showed that progression-free survival, metastasis-free survival, and cancer-specific survival were significantly increased in T/T genotypes compared with C/C genotypes (73). In multivariate Cox proportional hazard analysis, the T393C polymorphism was an independent prognosis factor for clinical outcome (73). Homozygous C/C patients were at highest risk for progression, metastasis, and tumorrelated death compared with T/T genotypes (73). Heterozygous patients had an intermediate risk suggesting a gene-dose effect (73). These genotypic effects were correlated with the highest G_{alpha}s mRNA expression in T/T genotype, indicating a proapoptotic effect and a functional role of G _{alpha}s in bladder cancer progression (73).

A growing body of evidence indicates the alterations in the adhesion properties of tumor cells play a pivotal role in development and progression of cancer. Loss of E-cadherin-mediated adhesion is an important step in the progression of many carcinomas (223, 249-250). Zhang et al. found that a C→A SNP at position −160 of the E-cadherin gene promoter was associated with TCC of bladder; the A allele was a risk allele (225). They also observed that the A allele frequencies were significantly higher in invasive TCC than in superficial carcinoma (225).

5. PERSPECTIVE

The etiology of bladder cancer is still not fully understood. Traditional epidemiology has successfully identified a number of environmental and lifestyle factors contributing to higher or lower bladder cancer risk. Over the last decade, molecular epidemiology has evolved to prominence and evidence is compelling that genetic variations play important roles in the initiation of many types of cancer. As summarized above, we have seen an explosion of literature reporting an association between genetic variation and bladder cancer risk, as well as between genetic variation and clinical outcome. With the completion of the human genome project and with several millions of SNPs identified, the number of possible genetic associations that can be tested is unlimited. However, there are clearly some major challenges that confront the molecular epidemiologists.

When summarizing previous research, we found the sheer number of contradictory results astonishing. With so many genes and SNPs reported, the only fairly consistent results were that GSTM1 null genotype and NAT2 slow acetylator genotypes conferred modestly increased bladder cancer risk. There are multiple reasons for these inconsistencies, such as small sample size, ethnic heterogeneity, poor matching between case and control populations, multiple testing, and publication bias. The application of large, well-designed association studies of common polymorphisms will help avoid spurious findings. We should also realize that the candidate gene approach is hypothesis-driven and uses a priori knowledge of SNP and gene functions. The selection of candidate polymorphisms and genes for costly large population studies should be functionally rational and based on biological plausibility. Previously published SNPs with functional impact are the obvious targets. A plethora of experimental assays and computational algorithms are available for testing the functional significance of novel SNPs and prioritizing those SNPs (251).

A more serious challenge to current association studies is to bypass the inherent limitation of the predominantly used candidate gene approach. Cancer is a complex multigenic and multistage disease involving the interplay of many genetic and environmental factors. It is unlikely that any single genetic polymorphism would have a dramatic effect on cancer risk. In fact, the reported significant odds ratios for individual variants are typically less than 2 (e.g., the GSTM1 and NAT2 genotypes and bladder cancer risk). The modest effect of each individual polymorphism, although providing valuable information, would have very limited value in predicting risk in the general population. Therefore, the future of risk assessment for multigenic complex diseases needs to move beyond the candidate gene approach. A pathway-based genotyping approach, which assesses the combined effects of a panel of polymorphisms that act in the same pathway, may amplify the effects of individual polymorphisms and should be more advantageous to association study than the candidate gene approach. A few recent pathway studies, including the aforementioned NER polymorphism study,

demonstrated the promising potential of applying a pathway-based approach in association studies (252-254). In all these studies, only a handful of SNPs have presented moderately significant individual effect, but when a group of SNPs in the same pathway are analyzed for their cooperative effect on cancer risk or disease progression, they find a much more pronounced trend of significance, and this combined effect becomes more evident as the SNP number increases.

The ultimate goals of molecular epidemiology studies are to provide a practical risk-assessment model that predicts if an individual is at a higher risk for cancer or to tailor cancer therapy (preventive or treatment) based on each individual's genetic profile. Unfortunately, we still have a long way to go. Hypothesis-driven genetic association studies, using either candidate gene approach or pathway-based approach, have given and will continue to provide us with very valuable information. However, our expectations should not exceed what these studies can provide. The magnitude of associations by these studies will have limited value in public health and clinical care. SNPs with potential functional significance in the most important genes have been extensively studied. Continued efforts to exhaustively search and genotype all identified SNPs with potential functional significance in so many genes are costly and unpractical. With the rapid progress of the Hapmap project, haplotyping will become more feasible. This may then be the primary research strategy in the coming years and may facilitate disease association studies. Finally, genome-wide scanning is entering the field in full stride. This technology is constantly advancing and we will see more and more genome-wide scanning followed by fine mapping used in the field. The future of genetic association studies lies in the combination of global approaches using genome-wide scanning and regional fine mapping using haplotyping and genotyping.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

 $\begin{tabular}{lll} Supported by the NCI grants CA 74880 and CA \\ 91846 \end{tabular}$

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Overview: Bladder Cancer. American Cancer Society http://www.cancer.org.
- 2. IARC Tobacco Smoking. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans, Vol 38, IARC, Lyon, 244-268 (1985)
- 3. Brownson RC, Chang JC & Davis JR: Occupation, smoking, and alcohol in the epidemiology of bladder cancer. *Am J Public Health* 77, 1298-300 (1987)
- 4. Zeegers MP, Tan FE, Verhagen AP, Weijenberg MP & van den Brandt PA: Elevated risk of cancer of the urinary tract for alcohol drinkers: a meta-analysis. *Cancer Causes Control* 10, 445-451 (1999)
- 5. Sun CL, Yuan JM, Arakawa K, Low SH, Lee HP & Yu MC: Dietary soy and increase risk of bladder cancer: the Singapore Chinese Health Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 11, 1674-1677 (2002)

- 6. Bruemmer B, White E, Vaughan TL & Cheney CL: Nutrient intake in relation to bladder cancer among middle-aged men and women. *Am J Epidemiol* 144, 485-495 (1996)
- 7. Gago-Dominguez M, Castelao JE, Yuan JM, Yu MC & Ross RK: Use of permanent hair dyes and bladder-cancer risk. *Int J Cancer* 91, 903-906 (2001)
- 8. Kiemeney LA & Schoenberg M: Familial transitional cell carcinoma. *J Urol* 156, 867-872 (1996)
- 9. Sachse C, Brockmoller J, Bauer S & Roots I: Functional significance of a C-->A polymorphism in intron 1 of the cytochrome P450 CYP1A2 gene tested with caffeine. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 47, 445-449 (1999)
- 10. Nakajima M, Yokoi T, Mizutani M, Kinoshita M, Funayama M & Kamataki T: Genetic polymorphism in the 5'-flanking region of human CYP1A2 gene: effect on the CYP1A2 inducibility in humans. *J Biochem (Tokyo)* 125, 803-808 (1999)
- 11. de Morais SM, Wilkinson GR, Blaisdell J, Nakamura K, Meyer UA & Goldstein JA: The major genetic defect responsible for the polymorphism of S-mephenytoin metabolism in humans. *J Biol Chem* 269, 15419-15422 (1994)
- 12. de Morais SM, Wilkinson GR, Blaisdell J, Meyer UA, Nakamura K & Goldstein JA: Identification of a new genetic defect responsible for the polymorphism of (S)-mephenytoin metabolism in Japanese. *Mol Pharmacol* 46, 594-598 (1994)
- 13. Marez D, Legrand M, Sabbagh N, Guidice JM, Spire C, Lafitte JJ, Meyer UA & Broly F: Polymorphism of the cytochrome P450 CYP2D6 gene in a European population: characterization of 48 mutations and 53 alleles, their frequencies and evolution. *Pharmacogenetics* 7, 193-202 (1997)
- 14. Hayashi S, Watanabe J & Kawajiri K: Genetic polymorphisms in the 5'-flanking region change transcriptional regulation of the human cytochrome P450IIE1 gene. *J Biochem* (*Tokyo*) 110, 559-565 (1991)
- 15. Marchand LL, Wilkinson GR & Wilkens LR: Genetic and dietary predictors of CYP2E1 activity: a phenotyping study in Hawaii Japanese using chlorzoxazone. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 8, 495-500 (1999)
- 16. Kawajiri K, Nakachi K, Imai K, Yoshii A, Shinoda N & Watanabe J: Identification of genetically high risk individuals to lung cancer by DNA polymorphisms of the cytochrome p450 A1 gene. *FEBS Lett* 263, 131-133 (1990)
- 17. Hanna IH, Dawling S, Roodi N, Guengerich FP & Parl FF: Cytochrome P450 1B1 (CYP1B1) pharmacogenetics: association of polymorphisms with functional differences in estrogen hydroxylation activity. *Cancer Res* 60, 3440-3444 (2000)
- 18. Traver RD, Horikoshi T, Danenberg KD, Stadlbauer TH, Danenberg PV, Ross D & Gibson NW: NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase gene expression in human colon carcinoma cells: characterization of a mutation which modulates DT-diaphorase activity and mitomycin sensitivity. *Cancer Res* 52, 797-802 (1992)
- 19. Harada S, Misawa S, Nakamura T, Tanaka N, Ueno E & Nozoe M: Detection of GST1 gene deletion by the polymerase chain reaction and its possible correlation with stomach cancer in Japanese. *Hum Genet* 90, 62-66 (1992)

- 20. Chen H, Sandler DP, Taylor JA, Shore DL, Liu E, Bloomfield CD & Bell DA: Increased risk for myelodysplastic syndromes in individuals with glutathione transferase theta 1 (GSTT1) gene defect. *Lancet* 347, 295-297 (1996)
- 21. Harries LW, Stubbins MJ, Forman D, Howard GC & Wolf CR: Identification of genetic polymorphisms at the glutathione S-transferase Pi locus and association with susceptibility to bladder, testicular and prostate cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 18, 641-644 (1997)
- 22. Sundberg K, Johansson AS, Stenberg G, Widersten M, Seidel A, Mannervik B & Jernstrom B: Differences in the catalytic efficiencies of allelic variants of glutathione transferase P1-1 towards carcinogenic diol epoxides of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Carcinogenesis* 19, 433-436 (1998)
- 23. Coles BF, Morel F, Rauch C, Huber WW, Yang M, Teitel CH, Green B, Lang NP & Kadlubar FF: Effect of polymorphism in the human glutathione Stransferase A1 promoter on hepatic GSTA1 and GSTA2 expression. *Pharmacogenetics* 11, 663-669 (2001)
- 24. Inskip A, Elexperu-Camiruaga J, Buxton N, Dias PS, MacIntosh J, Campbell D, Jones PW, Yengi L, Talbot JA, Strange RC & Fryer AA: Identification of polymorphism at the glutathione Stransferase, GSTM3 locus: evidence for linkage with GSTM1*A. *Biochem J* 312, 713-716 (1995)
- 25. Raftogianis RB, Wood TC & Weinshilboum RM: Human phenol sulfotransferases SULT1A2 and SULT1A1: genetic polymorphisms, allozyme properties, and human liver genotype-phenotype correlations. *Biochem Pharmacol* 58, 605-616 (1999)
- 26. Lin GF, Guo WC, Chen JG, Qin YQ, Golka K, Xiang CQ, Ma QW, Lu DR & Shen JH: An association of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 C802T (His268Tyr) polymorphism with bladder cancer in benzidine-exposed workers in China. *Toxicol Sci* 85, 502-506 (2005)
- 27. Vatsis KP, Weber WW, Bell DA, Dupret JM, Evans DA, Grant DM, Hein DW, Lin HJ, Meyer UA, Relling MV, Sim E, Suzuki T & Yamazoe Y: Nomenclature for Nacetyltransferases. *Pharmacogenetics* 5, 1-17 (1995)
- 28. Hughes NC, Janezic SA, McQueen KL, Jewett MA, Castranio T, Bell DA & Grant DM: Identification and characterization of variant alleles of human acetyltransferase NAT1 with defective function using paminosalicylate as an in-vivo and in-vitro probe. *Pharmacogenetics* 8, 55-66 (1998)
- 29. Hein DW, Grant DM & Sim E: Update on consensus arylamine N-acetyltransferase gene nomenclature. *Pharmacogenetics* 10, 291-292 (2000)
- 30. Nauseef WM, Brigham S & Cogley M: Hereditary myeloperoxidase deficiency due to a missense mutation of arginine 569 to tryptophan. *J Biol Chem* 269, 1212-1216 (1994)
- 31. Piedrafita FJ, Molander RB, Vansant G, Orlova EA, Pfahl M & Reynolds WF: An Alu element in the myeloperoxidase promoter contains a composite SP1-thyroid hormone-retinoic acid response element. *J Biol Chem* 271, 14412-14420 (1996) 32. Lotta T, Vidgren J, Tilgmann C, Ulmanen I, Melen K, Julkunen I & Taskinen J: Kinetics of human soluble and membrane-bound catechol Omethyltransferase: a revised mechanism and description of the thermolabile variant of the enzyme. *Biochemistry* 34, 4202-4210 (1995)

- 33. Borgstahl GE, Parge HE, Hickey MJ, Beyer WF Jr, Hallewell RA & Tainer JA: The structure of human mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase reveals a novel tetrameric interface of two 4-helix bundles. *Cell* 71, 107-118 (1992)
- 34. Shimoda-Matsubayashi S, Matsumine H, Kobayashi T, Nakagawa-Hattori Y, Shimizu Y & Mizuno Y: Structural dimorphism in the mitochondrial targeting sequence in the human manganese superoxide dismutase gene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 226, 561-565 (1996)
- 35. Hu YJ & Diamond AM: Role of glutathione peroxidase 1 in breast cancer: loss of heterozygosity and allelic differences in the response to selenium. *Cancer Res* 63, 3347-3351 (2003)
- 36. Hoog JO, Heden LO, Larsson K, Jornvall, H & von Bahr-Lindstrom H: The 71 and 72 subunits of human liver alcohol dehydrogenase. cDNA structures, two amino acid replacements, and compatibility with changes in the enzymatic properties. *Eur J Biochem* 159, 215–218 (1986)
- 37. Spitz MR, Wu X, Wang Y, Wang LE, Shete S, Amos CI, Guo Z, Lei L, Mohrenweiser H & Wei Q: Modulation of nucleotide excision repair capacity by XPD polymorphisms in lung cancer patients. *Cancer Res* 61, 1354-1357 (2001)
- 38. Sanyal S, Festa F, Sakano S, Zhang Z, Steineck G, Norming U, Wijkstrom H, Larsson P, Kumar R & Hemminki K: Polymorphisms in DNA repair and metabolic genes in bladder cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 25, 729-734 (2004)
- 39. Hu Z, Wang Y, Wang X, Liang G, Miao X, Xu Y, Tan W, Wei Q, Lin D & Shen H: DNA repair gene XPC genotypes/haplotypes and risk of lung cancer in a Chinese population. *Int J Cancer* 115, 478-483 (2005)
- 40. Shen H, Sturgis EM, Khan SG, Qiao Y, Shahlavi T, Eicher SA, Xu Y, Wang X, Strom SS, Spitz MG, Kraemer KH & Wei Q: An intronic poly (AT) polymorphism of the DNA repair gene *XPC* and risk of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: a case-control study. *Cancer Res* 61,3321-3325 (2001)
- 41. Hu JJ, Smith TR, Miller MS, Mohrenweiser HW, Golden A & Case LD: Amino acid substitution variants of APE1 and XRCC1 genes associated with ionizing radiation sensitivity. *Carcinogenesis* 22, 917–922 (2001)
- 42. Stern MC, Umbach DM, van Gils CH, Lunn RM & Taylor JA: DNA repair gene XRCC1 polymorphisms, smoking, and bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10, 125-131 (2001)
- 43. Takanami T, Nakamura J, Kubota Y & Horiuchi S The Arg280His polymorphism in X-ray repair cross-complementing gene 1 impairs DNA repair ability. *Mutat Res* 582, 135-145 (2005)
- 44. Qu T, Morii E, Oboki K, Lu Y & Morimoto K: Micronuclei in EM9 cells expressing polymorphic forms of human XRCC1. *Cancer Lett* 221, 91-95 (2005)
- 45. Price EA, Bourne SL, Radbourne R, Lawton PA, Lamerdin J, Thompson LH & Arrand JE: Rare microsatellite polymorphisms in the DNA repair genes XRCC1, XRCC3 and XRCC5 associated with cancer in patients of varying radiosensitivity. *Somat Cell Mol Genet* 23, 237-247 (1997)
- 46. Medina PP, Ahrendt SA, Pollan M, Fernandez P, Sidransky D & Sanchez-Cespedes M: Screening of

- homologous recombination gene polymorphisms in lung cancer patients reveals an association of the NBS1-185Gln variant and p53 gene mutations. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 12, 699-704 (2003)
- 47. Matullo G, Palli D, Peluso M, Guarrera S, Carturan S, Celentano E, Krogh V, Munnia A, Tumino R, Polidoro S, Piazza A & Vineis P: XRCC1, XRCC3, XPD gene polymorphisms, smoking and (32)P-DNA adducts in a sample of healthy subjects. *Carcinogenesis* 22, 1437-1445 (2001)
- 48. Kawakami T, Shiina H, Igawa M, Deguchi M, Nakajima K, Ogishima T, Tokizane T, Urakami S, Enokida H, Miura K, Ishii N, Kane CJ, Carroll PR & Dahiya R: Inactivation of the hMSH3 mismatch repair gene in bladder cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 325, 934-942 (2004)
- 49. Thomas M, Kalita A, Labrecque S, Pim D, Banks L & Matlashewski G: Two polymorphic variants of wild-type p53 differ biochemically and biologically. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 1092–1100 (1999)
- 50. Gemignani F, Moreno V, Landi S, Moullan N, Chabrier A, Gutierrez-Enriquez S, Hall J, Guino E, Peinado MA, Capella G & Canzian F. A TP53 polymorphism is associated with increased risk of colorectal cancer and with reduced levels of TP53 mRNA. *Oncogene* 23, 1954-1956 (2004)
- 51. Biros E, Kalina I, Kohut A, Stubna J & Salagovic J: Germ line polymorphisms of the tumor suppressor gene p53 and lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* 31, 157–162 (2001)
- 52. Sjalander A, Birgander R, Rannug A, Alexandrie AK, Tornling G & Beckman G: Association between the p21 codon 31 A1 (arg) allele and lung cancer. *Hum Hered* 46, 221–225 (1996)
- 53. Betticher DC, Thatcher N, Altermatt HJ, Hoban P, Ryder WD & Heighway J: Alternate splicing produces a novel cyclin D1 transcript. *Oncogene* 11, 1005-1011 (1995) 54. Williamson MP, Elder PA, Shaw ME, Devlin J & Knowles MA: p16 (CDKN2) is a major deletion target at 9p21 in bladder cancer. *Hum Mol Genet* 4, 1569-1577 (1995)
- 55. Aitken J, Welch J, Duffy D, Milligan A, Green A, Martin N & Hayward N: CDKN2A variants in a population-based sample of Queensland families with melanoma. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 91, 446-452 (1999)
- 56. Sakano S, Berggren P, Kumar R, Steineck G, Adolfsson J, Onelov E, Hemminki K & Larsson P: Clinical course of bladder neoplasms and single nucleotide polymorphisms in the CDKN2A gene. *Int J Cancer* 104, 98-103 (2003)
- 57. Straume O, Smeds J, Kumar R, Hemmiki K, Akslen LA. Significant impact of promoter hypermethylation and the C→T polymorphism of CDKN2A in cutaneous melanoma of the vertical growth phase. *Am J Pathol* 161, 229-237 (2002)
- 58. El-Omar EM, Carrington M, Chow WH, McColl KE, Bream JH, Young HA, Herrera J, Lissowska J, Yuan CC, Rothman N, Lanyon G, Martin M, Fraumeni JF Jr & Rabkin CS: Interleukin-1 polymorphisms associated with increased risk of gastric cancer. *Nature* 404, 398-402 (2000)
- 59. Tsai FJ, Chang CH, Chen CC, Hsia TC, Chen HY, Chen WC: Interleukin-4 gene intron-3 polymorphism is

- associated with transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder. *BJU Int* 95, 432-435 (2005)
- 60. Fishman D, Faulds G, Jeffery R, Mohamed-Ali V, Yudkin JS, Humphries S & Woo P: The effect of novel polymorphisms in the interleukin-6 (IL-6) gene on IL-6 transcription and plasma IL-6 levels, and an association with systemic-onset juvenile chronic arthritis. *J Clin Invest* 102, 1369-1376 (1998)
- 61. Deeb SS, Fajas L, Nemoto M, Pihlajamaki J, Mykkanen L, Kuusisto J, Laakso M, Fujimoto W& Auwerx J: A Pro12Ala substitution in PPARgamma2 associated with decreased receptor activity, lower body mass index and improved insulin sensitivity. Nat Genet 20, 284-287 (1998)
- 62. Marsh HP, Haldar NA, Bunce M, Marshall SE, le Monier K, Winsey SL, Christodoulos K, Cranston D, Welsh KI & Harris AL: Polymorphisms in tumour necrosis factor (TNF) are associated with risk of bladder cancer and grade of tumour at presentation. *Br J Cancer* 89, 1096-1101 (2003)
- 63. Wilson AG, Symons JA, McDowell TL, McDevitt HO & Duff GW: Effects of a polymorphism in the human tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter on transcriptional activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 3195-3199 (1997)
- 64. Chen T, de Vries EG, Hollema H, Yegen HA, Vellucci VF, Strickler HD, Hildesheim A & Reiss M: Structural alterations of transforming growth factor-beta receptor genes in human cervical carcinoma. *Int J Cancer* 82, 43-51 (1999)
- 65. Chen T, Jackson C, Costello B, Singer N, Colligan B, Douglass L, Pemberton J, Deddens J, Graff JR & Carter JH: An intronic variant of the TGFBR1 gene is associated with carcinomas of the kidney and bladder. *Int J Cancer* 112, 420-425 (2004)
- 66. Papafili A, Hill MR, Brull DJ, McAnulty RJ, Marshall RP, Humphries SE & Laurent GJ: Common promoter variant in cyclooxygenase-2 represses gene expression: evidence of role in acute-phase inflammatory response. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22, 1631-1636 (2002)
- 67. Kang S, Kim YB, Kim MH, Yoon KS, Kim JW, Park NH, Song YS, Kang D, Yoo KY, Kang SB & Lee HP: Polymorphism in the nuclear factor kappa-B binding promoter region of cyclooxygenase-2 is associated with an increased risk of bladder cancer. *Cancer Lett* 217, 11-16 (2005)
- 68. Shahbazi M, Fryer AA, Pravica V, Brogan IJ, Ramsay HM, Hutchinson IV & Harden PN: Vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphisms are associated with acute renal allograft rejection. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 13, 260-264 (2002)
- 69. Hazra A, Chamberlain RM, Grossman HB, Zhu Y, Spitz MR & Wu X: Death receptor 4 and bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Res* 63, 1157-1159 (2003)
- 70. Johne A, Roots I & Brockmoller J: A single nucleotide polymorphism in the human H-ras proto-oncogene determines the risk of urinary bladder cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 12, 68–70 (2003)
- 71. Green M & Krontiris TG: Allelic variation of reporter gene activation by the HRAS1 minisatellite. *Genomics* 17, 429-434 (1993)
- 72. Berman DM, Wang Y, Liu Z, Dong Q, Burke LA, Liotta LA, Fisher R & Wu X: A functional polymorphism

- in RGS6 modulates the risk of bladder cancer. Cancer Res 64, 6820-6826 (2004)
- 73. Frey UH, Eisenhardt A, Lummen G, Rubben H, Jockel KH, Schmid KW & Siffert W: The T393C polymorphism of the G alpha s gene (GNAS1) is a novel prognostic marker in bladder cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 871-877 (2005)
- 74. Li LC, Chui RM, Sasaki M, Nakajima K, Perinchery G, Au HC, Nojima D, Carroll P & Dahiya R A single nucleotide polymorphism in the E-cadherin gene promoter alters transcriptional activities. *Cancer Res* 60, 873-876 (2000)
- 75. Shen H, Wang L, Spitz MR, Hong WK, Mao L & Wei Q: A novel polymorphism in human cytosine DNA-methyltransferase-3B promoter is associated with an increased risk of lung cancer. *Cancer Res* 62, 4992-4995 (2002)
- 76. Goyette P, Sumner JS, Milos R, Duncan AM, Rosenblatt DS, Matthews RG & Rozen R: Human Methylene tetra Hydro folate Reductase: Isolation of cDNA, Mapping, and Mutation Identification. *Nat Genet* 7, 551–554 (1994)
- 77. Lin J, Spitz MR, Wang Y, Schabath MB, Gorlov IP, Hernandez LM, Pillow PC, Grossman HB & Wu X: Polymorphisms of folate metabolic genes and susceptibility to bladder cancer: a case-control study. *Carcinogenesis* 25, 1639-1647 (2004)
- 78. Kensler TW: Chemoprevention by inducers of carcinogen detoxication enzymes. *Environ Health Perspect* 105 Suppl.4, 965-970 (1997)
- 79. Gonzales FJ: The molecular biology of cytochrome P-450s. *Pharmacol Rev* 40, 243-288 (1989)
- 80. Landi MT, Zocchetti C, Bernucci I, Kadlubar FF, Tannenbaum S, Skipper P, Bartsch H, Malaveille C, Shields P, Caporaso NE & Vineis P: Cytochrome p4501A2: enzyme induction and genetic control in determining 4-aminobiphenyl-hemoglobin adduct levels. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 9, 693-698 (1996)
- 81. Gago-Dominguez M, Bell DA, Watson MA, Yuan JM, Castelao JE, Hein DW, Chan KK, Coetzee GA, Ross RK, Yu MC: Permanent hair dyes and bladder cancer: risk modification by cytochrome P4501A2 and N-acetyltransferases 1 and 2. *Carcinogenesis* 24, 483-489 (2003)
- 82. Goldstein JA: Clinical relevance of genetic polymorphisms in the human CYP2C subfamily. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 52, 349-355 (2001)
- 83. Shi WX & Chen SQ: Frequencies of poor metabolizers of cytochrome P450 2C19 in esophagus cancer, stomach cancer, lung cancer and bladder cancer in Chinese population. *World J Gastroenterol* 10, 1961-1963 (2004)
- 84. Eichelbaum ME & Gross AS: The genetic polymorphisms of debrisoquine/sparteine metabolism-clinical aspects. *Pharmacol Ther* 46, 377–394 (1990)
- 85. Figueiredo AJC, Coimbra HB, Sobral FT, Martins J, Linhares-Furtado AJ & Regateiro FJ: Genetic polymorphisms of genes GSTMI and CYP2D6 and bladder cancer. *Braz J Urol* 26, 250–255 (2000)
- 86. Kaisary A, Smith P, Jaczq C, McAllister CB, Wilkinson GR, Ray WA & Branch RA: Genetic predisposition to bladder cancer: ability to hydroxylate

- debrisoquine and mephenytoin as risk factors. *Cancer Res* 47, 5488–5493 (1987)
- 87. Fleming CM, Kaisary A, Wilkinson GR & Branch RA: The ability to 4hydroxylate debrisoquine is related to recurrence of bladder cancer. *Pharmacogenetics* 2, 128–134 (1992)
- 88. Persaad RA, Fleming CM, Wilkinson GR, Smith PJ & Branch RA: Bladder cancer recurrence and its association with cytochrome P450 2D6 activity. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 378, 19–27 (1992)
- 89. Anwar WA, Abdel-Rahman SZ, El-Zein RA, Mostafa HM & Au WW: Genetic polymorphism of GSTM1, CYP2E1 and CYP2D6 in Egyptian bladder cancer patients. *Carcinogenesis* 17,1923-1929 (1996)
- 90. Brockmoller J, Cascorbi I, Kerb R & Roots I: Combined analysis of inherited polymorphism in arylamine N-acetyltransferase 2, glutathione Stransferases M1 and T1, microsomal epoxide hydrolase, and cytochrome P450 enzymes as modulators of bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Res* 56, 3915–3925 (1996)
- 91. Spurr NK, Cough AC, Chinegwundoh FI & Smith CA: Polymorphisms in drug-metabolizing enzymes as modifiers of cancer risk. *Clin Chem* 41,1864–1869 (1995)
- 92. Sobti RC, Al-Badran AI, Sharma S, Sharma SK, Krishan A & Mohan H: Genetic polymorphisms of CYP2D6, GSTM1, and GSTT1 genes and bladder cancer risk in North India. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 156, 68-73 (2005)
- 93. Wolf CR, Smith CA, Gough AC, Moss JE, Vallis KA, Howard G, Carey FJ, Mills K, McNee W & Carmichael J: Relationship between the debrisoquine hydroxylase polymorphism and cancer susceptibility. *Carcinogenesis* 13, 1035-1038 (1992)
- 94. Guengerich FP, Kim DH & Iwasaki M: Role of human cytochrome P-450 IIE1 in the oxidation of many low molecular weight cancer suspects. *Chem Res Toxicol* 4,168-179 (1991)
- 95. Kim RB, Yamazaki H, Chiba K, O'Shea D, Mimura M, Guengerich FP, Ishizaki T, Shimada T & Wilkinson GR: In vivo and vitro characterization of CYP2E1 activity in Japanese and Caucasians. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 276, 4–11 (1996)
- 96. Farker K, Lehmann MH, Kastner R, Hoffmann A, Janitzky V, Schubert J, Matz U & Hofmann W: CYP2E1 genotyping in renal cell/urothelial cancer patients in comparison with control populations. *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther* 36, 463-468 (1998)
- 97. Farker K, Lehmann MH, Oelschlagel B, Haerting J, Hoffmann A, Janitzky V & Schubert J: Impact of CYP2E1 genotype in renal cell and urothelial cancer patients. *Exp Toxicol Pathol* 50, 425-431 (1998)
- 98. Mittal RD, Srivastava DS, A M & B M: Genetic polymorphism of drug metabolizing enzymes (CYP2E1, GSTP1) and susceptibility to bladder cancer in North India. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* 6, 6-9 (2005)
- 99. Choi JY, Lee KM, Cho SH, Kim SW, Choi HY, Lee SY, Im HJ, Yoon KJ, Choi H, Choi I, Hirvonen A, Hayes RB & Kang D: CYP2E1 and NQO1 genotypes, smoking and bladder cancer. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 349-355 (2003) 100. Kato S, Shields PG, Caporaso NE, Hoover RN, Trump BF, Sugimura H, Weston A & Harris CC: Cytochrome
- 207

- P450IIE1 genetic polymorphisms, racial variation, and lung cancer risk. *Cancer Res* 52, 6712–6715 (1992)
- 101. Farker K, Lehmann MH, Kastner R, Weber J, Janitzky V, Schubert J & Hoffmann A: Analysis of point mutation in exon 2 of CYP2E1 gene in renal cell/urothelial cancer patients in comparison with control population. *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther* 38, 30-34 (2000)
- 102. Hung RJ, Boffetta P, Brennan P, Malaveille C, Hautefeuille A, Donato F, Gelatti U, Spaliviero M, Placidi D, Carta A, Scotto di Carlo A & Porru S: GST, NAT, SULT1A1, CYP1B1 genetic polymorphisms, interactions with environmental exposures and bladder cancer risk in a high-risk population. *Int J Cancer* 110, 598-604 (2004)
- 103. Ernster L: DT-diaphorase. *Meth. Enzymol* 11, 309–317 (1967)
- 104. Ross D, Kepa JK, Winski SL, Beall HD, Anwar A & Siegel D: NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1): chemoprotection, bioactivation, gene regulation and genetic polymorphisms. *Chem Biol Interact* 129, 77-97 (2000)
- 105. Hung RJ, Boffetta P, Brennan P, Malaveille C, Gelatti U, Placidi D, Carta A, Hautefeuille A & Porru S: Genetic polymorphisms of MPO, COMT, MnSOD, NQO1, interactions with environmental exposures and bladder cancer risk. *Carcinogenesis* 25, 973-978 (2004)
- 106. Park SJ, Zhao H, Spitz MR, Grossman HB, Wu X: An association between NQO1 genetic polymorphism and risk of bladder cancer. *Mutat Res* 536, 131-137 (2003)
- 107. Schulz WA, Krummeck A, Rosinger I, Eickelmann P, Neuhaus C, Ebert T, Schmitz-Drager BJ & Sies H: Increased frequency of a null-allele for NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase in patients with urological malignancies. *Pharmacogenetics* 7, 235-239 (1997)
- 108. Moore LE, Wiencke JK, Bates MN, Zheng S, Rey OA & Smith AH: Investigation of genetic polymorphisms and smoking in a bladder cancer case-control study in Argentina. *Cancer Lett* 211, 199-207 (2004)
- 109. Broberg K, Bjork J, Paulsson K, Hoglund M & Albin M: Constitutional short telomeres are strong genetic susceptibility markers for bladder cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 26, 1263-1271 (2005)
- 110. Terry PD, Umbach DM & Taylor JA: No association between SOD2 or NQO1 genotypes and risk of bladder cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 753-754 (2005)
- 111. Hayes, JD & Pulford DJ: The glutathione S-transferase supergene family: regulation of GST and the contribution of the isoenzymes to cancer chemoprotection and drug resistance. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* 30, 445-600 (1995)
- 112. Karagas MR, Park S, Warren A, Hamilton J, Nelson HH, Mott LA & Kelsey KT: Gender, smoking, glutathione-S-transferase variants and bladder cancer incidence: a population-based study. *Cancer Lett* 219, 63-69 (2005)
- 113. Srivastava DS, Kumar A, Mittal B & Mittal RD: Polymorphism of GSTM1 and GSTT1 genes in bladder cancer: a study from North India. *Arch Toxicol* 78, 430-434 (2004)
- 114. Jeong HJ, Kim HJ, Seo YII, Kim HJ, Oh G-J, Chae SC, Lim JS, Chung HT & Kim JJ: Association between glutathione Stransferase M1 and T1 polymorphisms and increased risk for bladder cancer in Korean smokers. *Cancer Lett* 202, 193-199 (2003)

- 115. Giannakopoulos X, Charalabopoulos K, Baltogiannis D, Chatzikiriakidou A, Alamanos Y, Georgiou I, Evangelou A, Agnantis N & Sofikitis N: The role of N-acetyltransferase-2 and glutathione S-transferase on the risk and aggressiveness of bladder cancer. *Anticancer Res* 22, 3801-3804 (2002)
- 116. Lee SJ, Cho SH, Park SK, Kim SW, Park MS, Choi HY, Choi JY, Lee SY, Im HJ, Kim JY, Yoon KJ, Choi H, Shin SG, Park TW, Rothman N, Hirvonen A & Kang D: Combined effect of glutathione Stransferase M1 and T1 genotypes on bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Lett* 177, 173-179 (2002)
- 117. Aktas D, Ozen H, Atsu N, Tekin A, Sozen S & Tuncbilek E: Glutathione S-transferase M1 gene polymorphism in bladder cancer patients. a marker for invasive bladder cancer? *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* 125, 1-4 (2001)
- 118. Schnakenberg E, Breuer R, Werdin R, Dreikorn K & Schloot W: Susceptibility genes: GSTM1 and GSTM3 as genetic risk factors in bladder cancer. *Cytogenet Cell Genet* 91, 234-238 (2000)
- 119. Steinhoff C, Franke KH, Golka K, Thier R, Romer HC, Rotzel C, Ackermann R & Schulz WA: Glutathione transferase isozyme genotypes in patients with prostate and bladder carcinoma. *Arch Toxicol* 74, 521-526 (2000)
- 120. Johns LE & Houlston RS: Glutathione Stransferase mu1 (GSTM1) status and bladder cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Mutagenesis* 15, 399-404 (2000)
- 121. Schnakenberg E, Lustig M, Breuer R, Werdin R, Hubotter R, Dreikorn K & Schloot W: Gender-specific effects of NAT2 and GSTM1 in bladder cancer. *Clin Genet* 57, 270-277 (2000)
- 122. Kim WJ, Lee HL, Lee SC, Kim YT & Kim H: Polymorphisms of N-acetyltransferase 2, glutathione S-transferase mu and theta genes as risk factors of bladder cancer in relation to asthma and tuberculosis. *J Urol* 164, 209-213 (2000)
- 123. Salagovic J, Kalina I, Habalova V, Hrivnak M, Valansky L & Biros E: The role of human glutathione S-transferases M1 and T1 in individual susceptibility to bladder cancer. *Physiol Res* 48, 465-471 (1999)
- 124. Hengstler JG, Arand M, Herrero ME & Oesch F: Polymorphisms of N-acetyltransferases, glutathione S-transferases, microsomal epoxide hydrolase and sulfotransferases: influence on cancer susceptibility. *Recent Results Cancer Res* 154, 47-85 (1998)
- 125. Salagovic J, Kalina I, Stubna J, Habalova V, Hrivnak M, Valansky L, Kohut A & Biros E: Genetic polymorphism of glutathione S-transferases M1 and T1 as a risk factor in lung and bladder cancers. *Neoplasma* 45, 312-317 (1998)
- 126. Abdel-Rahman SZ, Anwar WA, Abdel-Aal WE, Mostafa HM & Au WW: GSTM1 and GSTT1 genes are potential risk modifiers for bladder cancer. *Cancer Detect Prev* 22, 129-138 (1998)
- 127. Toruner GA, Akyerli C, Ucar A, Aki T, Atsu N, Ozen H, Tez M, Cetinkaya M & Ozcelik T: Polymorphisms of glutathione S-transferase genes (GSTM1, GSTP1 and GSTT1) and bladder cancer susceptibility in the Turkish population. *Arch Toxicol* 75, 459-464 (2001)
- 128. Kim EJ, Jeong P, Quan C, Kim J, Bae SC, Yoon SJ, Kang JW, Lee SC, Wee JJ & Kim WJ: Genotypes of TNF-

- alpha, VEGF, hOGG1, GSTM1, and GSTT1: useful determinants for clinical outcome of bladder cancer. *Urology* 65, 70-75 (2005)
- 129. Georgiou I, Filiadis IF, Alamanos Y, Bouba I, Giannakopoulos X, Lolis D: Glutathione S-transferase null genotypes in transitional cell bladder cancer. A case-control study. *European Urology* 37, 660-664 (2000)
- 130. Engel LS, Taioli E, Pfeiffer R, Garcia-Closas M, Marcus PM, Lan Q, Boffetta P, Vineis P, Autrup H, Bell DA, Branch RA, Brockmoller J, Daly AK, Heckbert SR, Kalina I, Kang D, Katoh T, Lafuente A, Lin HJ, Romkes M, Taylor JA & Rothman N: Pooled analysis and meta-analysis of glutathione S-transferase M1 and bladder cancer: a HuGE review. *Am J Epidemiol* 156, 95-109 (2002)
- 131. Ma QW, Lin GF, Chen JG & Shen JH: Polymorphism of glutathione S-transferase T1, M1 and P1 genes in a Shanghai population: patients with occupational or non-occupational bladder cancer. *Biomed Environ Sci* 15, 253-260 (2002)
- 132. Okkels H, Sigsgaard T, Wolf H & Autrup H: Arylamine Nacetyltransferase 1 (NAT1) and 2 (NAT2) polymorphisms in susceptibility to bladder cancer: the influence of smoking. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 6, 225-231 (1997)
- 133. Zhong S, Wyllie AH, Barnes D, Wolf CR & Spurr NK: Relationship between the GSTM1 genetic polymorphism and susceptibility to bladder, breast and colon cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 14, 1821-1824 (1993)
- 134. Okkels H, Sigsgaard T, Wolf H, Autrup H: Glutathione S-transferase mu as a risk factor in bladder tumours. *Pharmacogenetics* 6, 251-256 (1996)
- 135. Chen YC, Xu L, Guo YL, Su HJ, Smith TJ, Ryan LM, Lee MS & Christiani DC: Polymorphisms in GSTT1 and p53 and urinary transitional cell carcinoma in southwestern Taiwan: a preliminary study. *Biomarkers* 9, 386-394 (2004)
- 136. Katoh T, Kaneko S, Takasawa S, Nagata N, Inatomi H, Ikemura K, Itoh H, Matsumoto T, Kawamoto T & Bell DA: Human glutathione Stransferase P1 polymorphism and susceptibility to smoking related epithelial cancer; oral, lung, gastric, colorectal and urothelial cancer. *Pharmacogenetics* 9, 165-169 (1999)
- 137. Ma Q, Lin G, Qin Y, Lu D, Golka K, Geller F, Chen J & Shen J: GSTP1 A1578G (Ile105Val) polymorphism in benzidine-exposed workers: an association with cytological grading of exfoliated urothelial cells. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 409-415 (2003)
- 138. Sweeney C, Ambrosone CB, Joseph L, Stone A, Hutchins LF, Kadlubar FF & Coles BF: Association between a glutathione S-transferase A1 promoter polymorphism and survival after breast cancer treatment. *Int J Cancer* 103, 810-814 (2003)
- 139. Falany CN: Enzymology of human cytosolic sulfotransferases. *FASEB J* 11, 206-16 (1997)
- 140. Zheng L, Wang Y, Schabath MB, Grossman HB & Wu X: Sulfotransferase 1A1 (SULT1A1) polymorphism and bladder cancer risk: a case-control study. *Cancer Lett* 202, 61-69 (2003)
- 141. Mackenzie PI, Owens IS, Burchell B, Bock KW, Bairoch A, Belanger A, Fournel-Gigleux S, Green M, Hum DW, Iyanagi T, Lancet D, Louisot P, Magdalou J,

- Chowdhury JR, Ritter JK, Schachter H, Tephly TR, Tipton KF & Nebert DW: The UDP glycosyltransferase gene superfamily: recommended nomenclature update based on evolutionary divergence. *Pharmacogenetics* 7, 255-269 (1997)
- 142. Deguchi T: Sequences and expression of alleles of polymorphic arylamine N-acetyltransferase of human liver. *J Biol Chem* 267, 18140-18147 (1992)
- 143. Ozawa S, Abu-Zeid M, Kawakubo Y, Toyama S, Yamazoe Y & Kato R: Monomorphic and polymorphic isozymes of arylamine N-acetyltransferases in hamster liver: purification of the isozymes and genetic basis of N-acetylation polymorphism. *Carcinogenesis* 11, 2137-2144 (1990)
- 144. Vatsis KP & Weber WW: Structural heterogeneity of Caucasian N-acetyltransferase at the NAT1 gene locus. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 301, 71-76 (1993)
- 145. Gu J, Liang D, Wang Y, Lu C & Wu X: Effects of Nacetyl transferase 1 and 2 polymorphisms on bladder cancer risk in Caucasians. *Mutat Res* 581, 97-104 (2005)
- 146. Guo WC, Lin GF, Chen JG, Golka K & Shen JH: Polymorphism in the N-acetyltransferase 1 alleles NAT1*10 and NAT1*14A and cytological gradings of exfoliated urothelial cells in benzidine-exposed Chinese workers: discussion of ethnic differences. *Arch Toxicol* 78, 425-429 (2004)
- 147. Wang CY, Jones RF, Debiec-Rychter M, Soos G & Haas GP: Correlation of the genotypes for N-acetyltransferases 1 and 2 with double bladder and prostate cancers in a case-comparison study. *Anticancer Res* 22, 3529-3535 (2002)
- 148. Hsieh FI, Pu YS, Chern HD, Hsu LI, Chiou HY & Chen CJ: Genetic polymorphisms of N-acetyltransferase 1 and 2 and risk of cigarette smoking-related bladder cancer. *Br J Cancer* 81, 537-541 (1999)
- 149. Taylor JA, Umbach DM, Stephens E, Castranio T, Paulson D, Robertson C, Mohler JL & Bell DA: The role of N-acetylation polymorphisms in smoking-associated bladder cancer: evidence of a gene-gene-exposure three-way interaction. *Cancer Res* 58, 3603-3610 (1998)
- 150. Cascorbi I, Roots I & Brockmoller J: Association of NAT1 and NAT2 polymorphisms to urinary bladder cancer: significantly reduced risk in subjects with NAT1*10. *Cancer Res* 61, 5051-5056 (2001)
- 151. Vineis P, Marinelli D, Autrup H, Brockmoller J, Cascorbi I, Daly AK, Golka K, Okkels H, Risch A, Rothman N, Sim E & Taioli E: Current smoking, occupation, N-acetyltransferase-2 and bladder cancer: a pooled analysis of genotype-based studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10, 1249-1252 (2001)
- 152. Johns LE & Houlston RS: N-acetyl transferase-2 and bladder cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 36, 221-227 (2001)
- 153. Marcus PM, Vineis P & Rothman N: NAT2 slow acetylation and bladder cancer risk: a meta-analysis of 22 case-control studies conducted in the general population. *Pharmacogenetics* 10,115-122 (2000)
- 154. Inatomi H, Katoh T, Kawamoto T, Matsumoto T:NAT2 gene polymorphism as a possible marker for susceptibility to bladder cancer in Japanese. *Int J Urol* 6, 446-454 (1999)
- 155. Marcus PM, Hayes RB, Vineis P, Garcia-Closas M, Caporaso NE, Autrup H, Branch RA, Brockmoller J,

- Ishizaki T, Karakaya AE, Ladero JM, Mommsen S, Okkels H, Romkes M, Roots I & Rothman N: Cigarette smoking, N-acetyltransferase 2 acetylation status, and bladder cancer risk: a case-series meta-analysis of a gene-environment interaction. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 9, 461-467 (2000)
- 156. Carreon T, Ruder AM, Schulte PA, Hayes RB, Rothman N, Waters M, Grant DJ, Boissy R, Bell DA, Kadlubar FF, Hemstreet GP 3rd, Yin S, LeMasters GK. NAT2 slow acetylation and bladder cancer in workers exposed to benzidine. Int J Cancer. 2006;118:161-8.
- 157. Stern MC, Johnson LR, Bell DA & Taylor JA: XPD codon 751 polymorphism, metabolism genes, smoking, and bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 11, 1004-1011 (2002)
- 158. Stubbins MJ & Wolf CR: Additional polymorphisms and cancer. In Vineis P, Malatas N, Lang M, d'Errico A, Caporaso N, Cuzick J & Boffetta P (eds) Metabolic Polymorphisms and Susceptibility to Cancer. IARC Scientific Publications, Lyon, vol. 148, 271-302 (1999)
- 159. Mallet WG, Mosebrook DR & Trush MA: Activation of (+-)-trans-7, 8-dihydroxy-7, 8-dihydroenzo[a]pyrene to diolepoxides by human polymorphonuclear leukocytes or myeloperoxidase. *Carcinogenesis* 12, 521-524 (1991)
- 160. Zhu BT: Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT)-mediated methylation metabolism of endogenous bioactive catechols and modulation by endobitics and xenobiotics: importance in pathophysiology and pathogenesis. *Curr Drug Metab* 3, 321-349 (2002)
- 161. McCord JM: Superoxide dismutase in aging and disease: an overview. *Methods Enzymol* 349, 331-341 (2002)
- 162. Chada S, Whitney C & Newburger PE: Posttranscriptional regulation of glutathione peroxidase gene expression by selenium in the HL-60 human myeloid cell line. *Blood* 74, 2535-2541 (1989)
- 163. Ichimura Y, Habuchi T, Tsuchiya N, Wang L, Oyama C, Sato K, Nishiyama H, Ogawa O & Kato T: Increased risk of bladder cancer associated with a glutathione peroxidase 1 codon 198 variant. *J Urol* 172, 728-732 (2004)
- 164. Borgstahl GE, Parge HE, Hickey MJ, Johnson MJ, Boissinot M, Hallewell RA, Lepock JR, Cabelli DE & Tainer JA: Human mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase polymorphic variant Ile58Thr reduces activity by destabilizing the tetrameric interface. *Biochemistry* 35, 4287-4297 (1996)
- 165. van Dijk B, van Houwelingen KP, Witjes JA, Schalken JA & Kiemeney LA: Alcohol dehydrogenase type 3 (ADH3) and the risk of bladder cancer. *Eur Urol* 40, 509-514 (2001)
- 166. Poupon RE, Nalpas B, Coutelle C, Fleury B, Couzigou P & Higueret D: Polymorphism of alcohol dehydrogenase, alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenase activities: implication in alcoholic cirrhosis in white patients. The French Group for Research on Alcohol and Liver. *Hepatology* 15, 1017-1022 (1992)
- 167. Benson FE & Carr AM: DNA damage responses: a combination of maintenance and fire-fighting. *Microbiology Today* 29, 123-124 (2002)
- 168. Hoeijmakers JH: Genome maintenance mechanisms for preventing cancer. *Nature* 411, 366-374 (2001)

- 169. Friedberg EC: How nucleotide excision repair protects against cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 1, 22-33 (2001)
- 170. Matullo G, Guarrera S, Carturan S, Peluso M, Malaveille C, Davico L, Piazza A & Vineis P: DNA repair gene polymorphisms, bulky DNA adducts in white blood cells and bladder cancer in a case-control study. *Int J Cancer* 92, 562-567 (2001)
- 171. Shen M, Hung RJ, Brennan P, Malaveille C, Donato F, Placidi D, Carta A, Hautefeuille A, Boffetta P & Porru S: Polymorphisms of the DNA repair genes XRCC1, XRCC3, XPD, interaction with environmental exposures, and bladder cancer risk in a case-control study in northern Italy. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 12, 1234-1240 (2003)
- 172. Schabath MB, Delclos GL, Grossman HB, Wang Y, Lerner SP, Chamberlain RM, Spitz MR & Wu X: Polymorphisms in XPD exons 10 and 23 and bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 14, 878-884 (2005)
- 173. Lindahl T & Wood RD: Quality control by DNA repair. *Science* 286, 1897-1905 (1999)
- 174. Kelsey KT, Park S, Nelson HH & Karagas MR: A population-based case-control study of the XRCC1 Arg399Gln polymorphism and susceptibility to bladder cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 13, 1337-1341 (2004)
- 175. Stern MC, Umbach DM, Lunn RM & Taylor JA: DNA repair gene XRCC3 codon 241 polymorphism, its interaction with smoking and XRCC1 polymorphisms, and bladder cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 11, 939-943 (2002)
- 176. Khanna KK & Jackson SP: DNA double-strand breaks: signaling, repair and the cancer connection. *Nat Genet* 27, 247-254 (2001)
- 177. Kuroda Y, Tsukino H, Nakao H, Imai H & Katoh T: p53 Codon 72 polymorphism and urothelial cancer risk. *Cancer Lett* 189, 77-83 (2003)
- 178. Soulitzis N, Sourvinos G, Dokianakis DN & Spandidos DA: p53 codon 72 polymorphism and its association with bladder cancer. *Cancer Lett* 179,175-183 (2002)
- 179. Toruner GA, Ucar A, Tez M, Cetinkaya M, Ozen H & Ozcelik T: P53 codon 72 polymorphism in bladder cancerno evidence of association with increased risk or invasiveness. *Urol Res* 29, 393-395 (2001)
- 180. Biro E, Kalina I, Salagovic J, Habalova V, Hriv ak M & Valansky L: p53 single nucleotide polymorphisms and bladder cancer. *Neoplasma* 47, 303-306 (2000)
- 181. Chen WC, Tsai FJ, Wu JY, Wu HC, Lu HF & Li CW: Distributions of p53 codon 72 polymorphism in bladder cancer--proline form is prominent in invasive tumor. *Urol Res* 28, 293-296 (2000)
- 182. Berggren P, Hemminki K & Steineck G: p53 intron 7 polymorphisms in urinary bladder cancer patients and controls. Stockholm Bladder Cancer Group. *Mutagenesis* 15, 57-60 (2000)
- 183. Mabrouk I, Baccouche S, El-Abed R, Mokdad-Gargouri R, Mosbah A, Said S, Daoud J, Frikha M, Jlidi R & Gargouri A: No evidence of correlation between p53 codon 72 polymorphism and risk of bladder or breast carcinoma in Tunisian patients. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1010, 764-770 (2003)

- 184. Chen WC, Wu HC, Hsu CD, Chen HY & Tsai FJ: p21 gene codon 31 polymorphism is associated with bladder cancer. *Urol Oncol* 7, 63-66 (2002)
- 185. Shin KY, Kong G, Kim WS, Lee TY, Woo YN & Lee JD: Overexpression of cyclin D1 correlates with early recurrence in superficial bladder cancers. *Br J Cancer* 75, 1788-1792 (1997)
- 186. Wang L, Habuchi T, Takahashi T, Mitsumori K, Kamoto T, Kakehi Y, Kakinuma H, Sato K, Nakamura A, Ogawa O & Kato T: Cyclin D1 gene polymorphism is associated with an increased risk of urinary bladder cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 23, 257-264 (2002)
- 187. Cortessis VK, Siegmund K, Xue S, Ross RK & Yu MC: A case-control study of cyclin D1 CCND1 870A→G polymorphism and bladder cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 24, 1645-1650 (2003)
- 188. Parkin DM, Pisani P, Muñoz N & Ferlay J In: Newton R, Beral V & Weiss RA, Editors, *Infections and human cancer*, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY (1999)
- 189. Balkwill F & Mantovani A: Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet* 357, 539-545 (2001)
- 190. Macarthur M, Hold GL & El-Omar EM: Inflammation and Cancer II. Role of chronic inflammation and cytokine gene polymorphisms in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal malignancy. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 286, G515-G520 (2004)
- 191. Apte RN & Voronov E: Interleukin-1--a major pleiotropic cytokine in tumor-host interactions. *Semin Cancer Biol* 12, 277-290 (2002)
- 192. Cantagrel A, Navaux F, Loubet-Lescoulie P, Nourhashemi F, Enault G, Abbal M, Constantin A, Laroche M & Mazieres B: Interleukin-1beta, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, interleukin-4, and interleukin-10 gene polymorphisms: relationship to occurrence and severity of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 42, 1093-1100 (1999) 193. Langdahl BL, Lokke E, Carstens M, Stenkjaer LL & Eriksen EF: Osteoporotic fractures are associated with an 86-base pair repeat polymorphism in the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist gene but not with polymorphisms in the interleukin-1beta gene. *J Bone Miner Res* 15, 402-414 (2000)
- 194. Mout R, Willemze R & Landegent JE: Repeat polymorphisms in the interleukin-4 gene (IL4) *Nucleic Acids Res* 19, 3763 (1991)
- 195. Wang Y, Lerner S, Leibovici D, Dinney CP, Grossman HB & Wu X: Polymorphisms in the inflammatory genes IL-6, IL-8, TNF- alpha, NFKB1, and PPARG and bladder cancer risk. *Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res* Abstract 3979 (2004)
- 196. Locksley RM, Killeen N & Lenardo MJ: The TNF and TNF receptor superfamilies: integrating mammalian biology. *Cell* 104, 487-501 (2001)
- 197. Balkwill F: Tumor necrosis factor or tumor promoting factor? *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 13, 135-141 (2002)
- 198. Allen RD: Polymorphism of the human TNF-alpha promoter-random variation or functional diversity? *Mol Immunol* 36, 1017-1027 (1999)
- 199. Bidwell J, Keen L, Gallagher G, Kimberly R, Huizinga T, Mcdermott MF, Oskenberg J, McNicholl J, Pociot F, Hardt C & D'Alfonso S: Cytokine gene polymorphism in human disease: on line databases. *Genes Immun* 1, 3-19 (1999)

- 200. Tsai FJ, Lu HF, Yeh LS, Hsu CD & Chen WC: Lack of evidence for the association of tumor necrosis factoralpha gene promoter polymorphism with calcium oxalate stone and bladder cancer patients. *Urol Res* 29, 412-416 (2001)
- 201. Jeong P, Kim EJ, Kim EG, Byun SS, Kim CS & Kim WJ: Association of bladder tumors and GA genotype of -308 nucleotide in tumor necrosis factor-alpha promoter with greater tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression. *Urology* 64, 1052-1056 (2004)
- 202. Massague J: TGF-beta signal transduction. *Annu Rev Biochem* 67, 753-791 (1998)
- 203. Alexandrow MG & Moses HL: Transforming growth factor beta and cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Res* 55, 1452-1457 (1995)
- 204. Fynan TM & Reiss M: Resistance to inhibition of cell growth by transforming growth factor-beta and its role in oncogenesis. *Crit Rev Oncog* 4, 493-540 (1993)
- 205. Kim JH, Shariat SF, Kim IY, Menesses-Diaz A, Tokunaga H, Wheeler TM & Lerner SP: Predictive value of expression of transforming growth factor-beta (1) and its receptors in transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder. *Cancer* 92, 1475-1483 (2001)
- 206. Chen T, Carter D, Garrigue-Antar L & Reiss M: Transforming growth factor beta type I receptor kinase mutant associated with metastatic breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 58, 4805-4810 (1998)
- 207. Goggins M, Shekher M, Turnacioglu K, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH & Kern SE: Genetic alterations of the transforming growth factor beta receptor genes in pancreatic and biliary adenocarcinomas. *Cancer Res* 58, 5329-5332 (1998)
- 208. Schiemann WP, Pfeifer WM, Levi E, Kadin ME, Lodish HF: A deletion in the gene for transforming growth factor beta type I receptor abolishes growth regulation by transforming growth factor beta in a cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood* 94, 2854-2861 (1999)
- 209. Pasche B, Luo Y, Rao PH, Nimer SD, Dmitrovsky E, Caron P, Luzzatto L, Offit K, Cordon-Cardo C, Renault B, Satagopan JM, Murty VV & Massague J: Type I transforming growth factor beta receptor maps to 9q22 and exhibits a polymorphism and a rare variant within a polyalanine tract. *Cancer Res* 58, 2727-2732 (1998)
- 210. Pasche B, Kolachana P, Nafa K, Satagopan J, Chen YG, Lo RS, Brener D, Yang D, Kirstein L, Oddoux C, Ostrer H, Vineis P, Varesco L, Jhanwar S, Luzzatto L, Massague J & Offit K: TbetaR-I(6A) is a candidate tumor susceptibility allele. *Cancer Res* 59, 5678-5682 (1999)
- 211. Kaklamani VG, Hou N, Bian Y, Reich J, Offit K, Michel LS, Rubinstein WS, Rademaker A & Pasche B: TGFBR1*6A and cancer risk: a meta-analysis of seven case-control studies. *J Clin Oncol* 21, 3236-3243 (2003)
- 212. Vane JR, Bakhle YS, Botting R: Cyclooxygenases 1 and 2. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 38, 97-120 (1998)
- 213. Tsujii M & DuBois RN: Alterations in cellular adhesion and apoptosis in epithelial cells overexpressing prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase 2. *Cell* 83, 493-501 (1995)
- 214. Tsujii M, Kawano S, Tsuji S, Sawaoka H, Hori M & DuBois RN: Cyclooxygenase regulates angiogenesis induced by colon cancer cells. *Cell* 93, 705-716 (1998)
- 215. Danial NN & Korsmeyer SJ: Cell death: critical control points. *Cell* 116, 205-219 (2004)

- 216. Lowe SW, Cepero E & Evan G: Intrinsic tumour suppression. *Nature* 432, 307-315 (2004)
- 217. Peter ME & Krammer PH: The CD95 (APO-1/Fas) DISC and beyond. Cell Death Differ 10, 26-35 (2003)
- 218. Sweet RW, Yokoyama S, Kamata T, Feramisco JR, Rosenberg M & Gross M: The product of ras is a GTPase and the T24 oncogenic mutant is deficient in this activity. *Nature* 311, 273-275 (1984)
- 219. Barbacid M: ras genes. Annu Rev Biochem 56, 779-827 (1987)
- 220. Krontiris TG, Devlin B, Karp DD, Robert NJ & Risch N: An association between the risk of cancer and mutations in the HRAS1 minisatellite locus. *N Engl J Med* 329, 517-523 (1993)
- 221. van Gils CH, Conway K, Li Y & Taylor JA: HRAS1 variable number of tandem repeats polymorphism and risk of bladder cancer. *Int J Cancer* 100, 414-418 (2002)
- 222. Ross EM & Wilkie TM: GTPase-activating proteins for heterotrimeric G proteins: regulators of G protein signaling (RGS) and RGS-like proteins. *Annu Rev Biochem* 69,795-827 (2000)
- 223. Bringuier PP, Umbas R, Schaafsma HE, Karthaus HF, Debruyne FM & Schalken JA:Decreased E-cadherin immunoreactivity correlates with poor survival in patients with bladder tumors. *Cancer Res* 53, 3241-3245 (1993)
- 224. Takeichi M: Cadherin cell adhesion receptors as a morphogenetic regulator. *Science* 251,1451-1455 (1991)
- 225. Zhang X, Ma X, Zhu QG, Li LC, Chen Z & Ye ZQ: Association between a C/A singlenucleotide polymorphism of the E-cadherin gene promoter and transitional cellcarcinoma of the bladder. *J Urol* 170, 1379-1382 (2003) 226. Tsukino H, Kuroda Y, Nakao H, Imai H, Inatomi H, Kohshi K, Osada Y & Katoh T: E- cadherin gene polymorphism and risk of urothelial cancer. *Cancer Lett* 195, 53-58 (2003)
- 227. Jones PA & Baylin SB: The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet* 3, 415-428 (2002)
- 228. Robertson KD, Uzvolgyi E, Liang G, Talmadge C, Sumegi J, Gonzales FA & Jones PA:The human DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) 1, 3a, and 3b: coordinate mRN expression in normal tissues and overexpression in tumors. *Nucleic Acids Res* 27, 2291-2298 (1999)
- 229. Hazra A, Gu J, Zhu Y, Grossman HB, Spitz MR & Wu X: DNMT3b and bladder cancer risk: from genotype to phenotype. *Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res* Abstract 1604 (2004)
- 230. Zhu Y, Spitz MR, Zhang H, Grossman HB, Frazier ML & Wu X: Methyl-CpG-binding domain 2: a protective role in bladder carcinoma. *Cancer* 100, 1853-1858 (2004)
- 231. Yi P, Melnyk S, Pogribna M, Pogribny IP, Hine RJ & James SJ: Increase in plasma homocysteine associated with parallel increases in plasma Sadenosylhomocysteine and lymphocyte DNA hypomethylation. *J Biol Chem* 275, 29318-29323 (2000)
- 232. Kimura F, Florl AR, Steinhoff C, Golka K, Willers R, Seifert HH & Schulz WA: Polymorphic methyl group metabolism genes in patients with transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder. *Mutat Res* 458, 49-54 (2001)
- 233. Ryk C, Berggren P, Kumar R, Hemminki K, Larsson P, Steineck G, Lambert B & Hou SM: Influence of

- GSTM1, GSTT1, GSTP1 and NAT2 genotypes on the p53 mutational spectrum in bladder tumours. *Int J Cancer* 113, 761-768 (2005)
- 234. Mommsen S & Aagaard J: Susceptibility in urinary bladder cancer: acetyltransferase phenotypes and related risk factors. *Cancer Lett* 32, 199-205 (1986)
- 235. Sidransky D, Von Eschenbach A, Tsai YC, Jones P, Summerhayes I, Marshall F, Paul M, Green P, Hamilton SR, Frost P & Vogelstein B: Identification of p53 gene mutations in bladder cancers and urine samples. *Science* 252, 706-709 (1991)
- 236. Dahse R, Utting M, Werner W, Schubert J, Claussen U & Junker K: Prognostic significance of mutations in the p53 gene in superficial bladder cancer. *Oncol Rep* 7, 931-936 (2000)
- 237. Berggren P, Steineck G, Adolfsson J, Hansson J, Jansson O, Larsson P, Sandstedt B, Wijkstrom H & Hemminki K: p53 mutations in urinary bladder cancer. *Br J Cancer* 84, 1505-1511 (2001)
- 238. Sidransky D, Frost P, Von Eschenbach A, Oyasu R, Preisinger AC & Vogelstein B: Clonal origin bladder cancer. *N Engl J Med* 326, 737-740 (1992)
- 239. Spruck CH 3rd, Ohneseit PF, Gonzalez-Zulueta M, Esrig D, Miyao N, Tsai YC, Lerner SP, Schmutte C, Yang AS, Cote R, Dubeau L, Nichols PW, Hermann GG, Steven K, Horn T, Skinner DG & Jones PA: Two molecular pathways to transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. *Cancer Res* 54, 784-788 (1994)
- 240. Kusser WC, Miao X, Glickman BW, Friedland JM, Rothman N, Hemstreet GP, Mellot J, Swan DC, Schulte PA & Hayes RB: p53 mutations in human bladder cancer. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 24, 156-160 (1994)
- 241. Wu CS, Pollack A, Czerniak B, Chyle V, Zagars GK, Dinney CP, Hu SX & Benedict WF: Prognostic value of p53 in muscle-invasive bladder cancer treated with preoperative radiotherapy. *Urology* 47, 305-310 (1996)
- 242. Underwood MA, Reeves J, Smith G, Gardiner DS, Scott R, Bartlett J & Cooke TG: Overexpression of p53 protein and its significance for recurrent progressive bladder tumours. *Br J Urol* 77, 659-666 (1996)
- 243. Tetu B, Fradet Y, Allard P, Veilleux C, Roberge N & Bernard P: Prevalence and clinical significance of HER/2neu, p53 and Rb expression in primary superficial bladder cancer. *J Urol* 155, 1784-1788 (1996)
- 244. Ito M, Habuchi T, Watanabe J, Higashi S, Nishiyama H, Wang L, Tsuchiya N, Kamoto T & Ogawa O: Polymorphism within the cyclin D1 gene is associated with an increased risk of carcinoma in situ in patients with superficial bladder cancer. *Urology* 64, 74-78 (2004)
- 245. Gonzalez-Zulueta M, Bender CM, Yang AS, Nguyen T, Beart RW, Van Tornout JM & Jones PA: Methylation of the 5' CpG island of the p16/CDKN2 tumor suppressor gene in normal and transformed human tissues correlates with gene silencing. *Cancer Res* 55, 4531-4535 (1995)
- 246. Cairns P, Mao L, Merlo A, Lee DJ, Schwab D, Eby Y, Tokino K, van der Riet P, Blaugrund JE & Sidransky D: Rates of p16 (MTS1) mutations in primary tumors with 9p loss. *Science* 265, 415-417 (1994)
- 247. Landis CA, Masters SB, Spada A, Pace AM, Bourne HR & Vallar L: GTPase inhibiting mutations activate the alpha chain of Gs and stimulate adenylyl cyclase in human pituitary tumours. *Nature* 340, 692-696 (1989)

- 248. Lyons J, Landis CA, Harsh G, Vallar L, Grunewald K, Feichtinger H, Duh QY, Clark OH, Kawasaki E, Bourne HR, & McCormick F: Two G protein oncogenes in human endocrine tumors. *Science* 249, 655-659 (1990)
- 249. Oka H, Shiozaki H, Kobayashi K, Inoue M, Tahara H, Kobayashi T, Takatsuka Y, Matsuyoshi N, Hirano S, Takeichi M & Mori T: Expression of Ecadherin cell adhesion molecules in human breast cancer tissues and its relationship to metastasis. *Cancer Res* 53, 1696-1701 (1993)
- 250. Pignatelli M, Ansari TW, Gunter P, Liu D, Hirano S, Takeichi M, Kloppel G & Lemoine NR: Loss of membranous Ecadherin expression in pancreatic cancer: correlation with lymph node metastasis, high grade, and advanced stage. *J Pathol* 174, 243-248 (1994)
- 251. Rebbeck TR, Spitz M & Wu X: Assessing the function of genetic variants in candidate gene association studies. *Nat Rev Genet* 5, 589-597 (2004)
- 252. Gu J, Zhao H, Dinney CP, Zhu Y, Leibovici D, Bermejo CE, Grossman HB & Wu X: Nucleotide excision repair gene polymorphisms and recurrence after treatment for Superficial bladder cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 11, 1408-1415 (2005)
- 253. Han J, Colditz GA, Samson LD & Hunter DJ: Polymorphisms in DNA double-strand break repair genes and skin cancer risk. *Cancer Res* 64, 3009-3013 (2004)
- 254. Popanda O, Schattenberg T, Phong CT, Butkiewicz D, Risch A, Edler L, Kayser K, Dienemann H, Schulz V, Drings P, Bartsch H & Schmezer P: Specific combinations of DNA repair gene variants and increased risk for non-small cell lung cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 25, 2433-2441 (2004)

Key Words: Genetic Polymorphism, Disease Association, Bladder Cancer, Review

Send correspondence to: Xifeng Wu, M.D., Ph.D., Dept of Epidemiology, The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center, 1155 Pressler Blvd., Houston, TX 77030, Tel: 713 745 2485, Fax 713 792 4657, E-mail: xwu@mdanderson.org

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm